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siMest is the deVeloPMeNt fiNANce iNstitutioN

chARged with suPPoRtiNg ANd PRoMotiNg itAliAN

coMPANies’ ActiVities iN itAly ANd AbRoAd

■ siMest is controlled by cassa depositi e Prestiti, and has been subject to its management

and coordination since 25 september 2013. its private-sector shareholders include banks and

trade associations. siMest was set up in 1991 to promote foreign investment by italian

companies and to provide technical and financial support for investment projects.  

■ since 1999 it has administered various forms of public support for the international expansion

of italian firms

■ for firms it is a one-stop shop for assistance on every aspect of the development of business

abroad and, since 2011, in italy as well.

iNVestMeNt iN eQuity cAPitAl of coMPANies outside the eu

■ siMest, working alongside italian companies, can acquire up to 49% of the equity capital of

foreign firms, both directly and through a Venture capital fund, to support foreign investment

in countries outside the european union. its participation also gives the italian company

making the investment access to interest rate support for loans granted to finance its equity

interest in the non-eu company.

iNVestMeNt iN eQuity cAPitAl of coMPANies iN itAly ANd withiN the eu

■ siMest can acquire stakes of up to 49% in italian companies and/or their eu subsidiaries

that develop investments in production and in innovation and research at market terms

without support (bailouts are excluded).

As RegARds otheR ActiVities AbRoAd, siMest 

■ supports export credits for investment goods produced in italy;

■ finances feasibility studies and technical assistance programmes connected with investment

projects;

■ finances programmes for entering foreign markets.

siMest also provides italian companies seeking to internationalise their businesses with

technical assistance and advisory services. its broad range of activities in this field include:

• seeking out foreign partners and investment opportunities, as well as foreign commercial

contracts;

• prefeasibility and feasibility studies;

• advice on financial, legal and corporate questions concerning investment projects abroad.

siMest is also the only italian financial institution authorized by the eu to serve as a lead

financial institution in its partnership programmes (Neighbourhood investment facility (Nif),

latin America investment facility (lAif), eu-Africa infrastructure trust fund Africa, investment

facility for central Asia (ifcA), etc.).
As a member of edfi (european development finance institutions), siMest can help italian
firms by activating a worldwide network of contacts and sources of information.

More information and interactive aid  is available on siMest’s website:  www.simest.it  



1991-2013 2013 2012
€ millions € millions € millions

highlights

Profit for the year 181.1 13.3 13.0

dividends and bonus shares 98.1 6.3 6.3

iNVestMeNts

siMest's eQuity iNVestMeNts
1991-2013 2013 2012

No. € millions No. € millions No. € millions

Projects approved

New projects - eu and non-eu companies 1,279 1,421.7 52 120.0 62 93.3

Project supplements and revisions 

eu and non-eu companies 252 170.6 16 19.0 15 10.4

equity investments acquired

New equity investments - eu and non-eu companies 703 696.0 36 77.4 31 77.3

capital increases and revisions  
eu and non-eu companies

271 146.3 12 11.2 13 11.0

equity investments sold 448 388.4 28 25.7 40 35.9

fully operational projects

Non-current assets  28,494 2,344 1,615

share capital 12,883 919 1,051

VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd iNVestMeNts

2004-2013 2013 2012

No. € millions No. € millions No. € millions

equity investments acquired

New equity investments in foreign companies 261 201.5 21 12.4 18 9.7

capital increases and revisions 75  29.6 6 0.2 9 2.7

fiNANciAl suPPoRt to fiRMs

operations approved operations approved operations approved
1999-2013 2013 2012

No. € millions No. € millions No. € millions

support for exports (legislative decree
1,963 53,155.0 156 4,682.3 124 4,348.0143/98, amending law 227/77)

support for direct investment abroad
1,019 3,006.9 39 241 45 114.7

(laws 100/90 and 19/91)

Programmes to break into foreign markets
1,926 1,999.9 171 142.9 129 107.7

(law 133/08, Art. 6(2) (a))

capitalisation of exporter sMes
617 288.0 – – 184 85.3

(law 133/08, Art. 6(2)(c))

subsidies for feasibility studies 
and technical assistance programmes 587 130.0 22 2.8 19 2.5
(law 133/08, Art. 6(2)(b))
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the iNteRNAtioNAl eNViRoNMeNt

the recovery under way in the united states

continued in 2013. the emerging economies

also continued to expand, although their

growth was volatile and irregular.

the performance of the euro area continued to

be weak overall, although this varied by

country, mainly due to weakness in domestic

consumption linked to policies instituted to

contain government expenditure, higher taxes

and credit rationing, factors that were

particularly stringent in the “peripheral”

countries, which remained in recession.

in this difficult environment, enterprises that

focused more on international competition

were better prepared to handle weak domestic

consumption. this is further evidence of the

important role played by institutions and

agencies that support international expansion.

developments in gdP 
and world trade in 2013
According to the international Monetary fund

(iMf), the expansion of world gdP accelerated

compared with the previous year, reaching

3.0% in 2013. world trade grew by 3.0%, up

slightly compared with 2.8% growth in 2012.

the dynamic economic performance of certain

emerging economies has spurred much of this

global expansion. china’s gdP grew by 7.7%,

the same as in 2012, confirming the country’s

role as a driver of the world economy despite

growing at a slower rate than in previous years.

india also saw gdP expand by 4.4% (down

slightly from 4.7% growth in 2012). Russia and

brazil saw more modest expansions in their

gdP, which rose by 1.3% (3.4% in 2012) and

2.3% (1.0% in 2012), respectively.

the economic recovery continued in the united

states, with gdP expanding by 1.9%, with an

acceleration in the second half of the year

(2.8% in 2012). Japan also continued to show

signs of recovery, with gdP growing by 1.5%

(1.4% in 2012).

the united Kingdom also experienced a

significant recovery, with gdP up 1.8% in 2013,

compared with an increase of 0.3% in 2012.

by contrast, euro-area gdP contracted by 0.5%

(-0.7% in 2012). while the german economy

grew very modestly (+0.5%, compared with

+0.9% in 2012), the french economy was

stagnant (+0.3% in 2013 compared with nil in

2012). italy and spain, which are seeking to

limit the expansion of their public debt through

major macroeconomic measures, saw their

9
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gdPs contract by 1.9% and 1.2%, respectively

(compared with -2.4% and -1.6% in 2012).

consumer price inflation in the developed

countries declined from 2.0% in 2012 to 1.4% in

2013, while in the emerging and developing

countries it subsided from 6.0% in 2012 to 5.8%

in 2013.

direct investment
the latest figures released by uNctAd show

that global flows of foreign direct investment

(fdi) in 2013 expanded by 11% compared with

2012, to $1,461 billion ($1,317 billion in 2012).

As a result of this increase, the total amount

of fdi reached levels comparable to the pre-

crisis average for the 2005-2007 period.

for the second year in a row fdi flows to

mature economies represent the smallest

portion (39% of the total) despite rising by 12%

from $516 billion in 2012 to $576 billion in 2013.

fdi flows towards emerging and transition

economies were higher, going from $802

billion in 2012 to $885 billion in 2013 (+10%).

the united states remains the leading country

receiving fdi flows, which uNctAd estimates

reached $159 billion in 2013. china ranked

second, with fdi inflows amounting to $127

billion in 2013. Russia moved up from ninth

place in 2012 to third in 2013, with fdi flows of

$94 billion, mainly due to acquisitions in the

energy sector.

there was also a 38% increase in fdi flows to

the european union (from $207 billion in 2012

to $286 billion), an expansion of 18% in flows

to latin America and the caribbean (with a

93% increase in fdi flows to central America),

10

c.M.s. s.p.A. china



R
e

P
o

R
t o

N
 o

P
e

R
A

tio
N

s

spain, which should come out of recession,

are projected to grow by 0.6% and 0.9%,

respectively.

the united Kingdom’s gdP should increase by

2.9%.

As regards the most important emerging

economies, china’s gdP should increase by

7.5%, while india’s gdP is expected to rise

by 5.4%, that of brazil by 1.8% and that of

Russia by 1.3%.

world trade is forecast to expand by 4.3% in

2014.

consumer prices are projected to rise by 1.5%

in the mature economies and 5.5% in the

emerging and developing countries in 2014.

uNctAd projects that global fdi flows will

grow (to around $1,600 billion) in 2014 as a

result of the recovery in the advanced

economies, despite uncertainty concerning

when the united states will end its monetary

stimulus measures.

as well as a 7% rise in fdi flows to Africa. by

contrast, fdi flows to Asia remained stable

overall.

finally, fdi flows to italy rose from €72

million in 2012 to €12.4 billion in 2013 (source:

bank of italy).

the outlook for 2014
forecasts for 2014 indicate that the global

expansion should continue, although economic

and political uncertainties concerning various

countries and major areas remain.

the international Monetary fund’s most

recent forecasts point to a 3.6% expansion in

world gdP in 2014. the united states’ gdP is

expected to grow by 2.8%, while that of Japan

should expand by 1.4%. by contrast, the gdP

of the euro area is projected to show more

modest growth (+1.2%). the gdPs of germany

and france are expected to rise by 1.7% and

1.0%, respectively, while those of italy and

11
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the itAliAN ecoNoMy

the need to continue to pursue policies for

containing government deficits agreed at the

european level has had a significant impact on

italy’s main macroeconomic aggregates in

recent years.

the much-needed correction in the public

accounts, pursued largely by increasing taxes

rather than by cutting spending, sparked a

significant decline in consumption, consequently

creating difficulties for enterprises that are

geared towards the domestic market.

this revealed structural weaknesses that

have worsened in recent years – such as the

tax burden on corporate and personal

income, the cost of energy and services that,

together with the rigidity of the labour

market, have increased the number of

businesses in crisis, leading to a significant

increase in unemployment.

the modest signs of a recovery seen in the

fourth quarter of 2013 and in the early part

of 2014 must be consolidated and sustained

through significant cuts in unproductive

government spending, which could free up

resources to gradually lessen the tax

burden on businesses and workers. this

could also be facilitated by a reduction in

the cost of servicing the debt, as a result of

the current decline in interest rates on

italian government bonds (btPs) and the

narrowing of the spread with the german

bund. this reduction should be accentuated

as much of the country risk diminishes as a

result of the overhaul of government

spending mentioned above and the reform

of the labour market, which could combine

12
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istAt figures show that in 2013 employment

fell by 2.1% year-on-year (a decrease of

478,000 units), for an overall employment rate

of 55.6% (-1.1% from 2012). there was a

significant increase in the unemployment rate,

which rose on average from 10.7% in 2012 to

12.2% in 2013. 

gross fixed investment fell by 4.7% in volume

terms, following the drop of 8.0% in 2012.

sectors contributing to the contraction

included construction (-6.7%) and machinery

and equipment (-6.3%), while investment in

transport equipment rose by 12.9%.

final domestic consumption fell by 2.2%

compared with the previous year.

exports of goods and services rose by 0.1%,

while imports declined by 2.8% in 2013.

the trade balance showed a surplus of €30.4

billion in 2013. if energy products are excluded,

the trade surplus was €84.8 million.

industrial output fell by 3.0% on average in 2013

compared with 2012. A year-on-year

comparison of the averages shows decreases

of 4.8% in capital goods, 1.4% in intermediate

goods,  2.0% in consumer goods (-1.4% for

non-durables and -5.9% for durables), and a

decline of 4.8% in energy.

forecasts for 2014 depend on the timing of the

implementation of measures to stimulate an

economic recovery in italy. these measures

must also be implemented in such a way as to

not jeopardise achievement of the public

budget correction targets. the international

Monetary fund’s forecasts point to a rise in

italian gdP of 0.6%, compared with an increase

of 1.2% for the euro area as a whole, 1.7% in

germany, 1.0% in france and 2.9% in the

united Kingdom.

According to recent bank of italy figures, in

2013 inward fdi flows amounted to around

€12.4 billion (considerably up from the €72

million registered in 2012), while outward fdi

greater flexibility with active policies for

promoting employment.

in this generally precarious economic

environment, companies with a greater focus

on international expansion and competition

have coped better with the crisis than those

that have focused primarily on the domestic

market.

the need for the banking system to recapitalise

continued to restrict credit to borrowers

perceived as riskier with weak balance sheets.

in order to overcome the current challenges

and therefore successfully compete in

international markets, italian enterprises must

increase their stock of equity, thereby

countering undercapitalisation. in fact, only

adequately structured and capitalised

companies are capable of facing international

competition over at least the medium term,

thanks in part to a satisfactory level of self-

financing of their capital requirements. in this

environment, it is important to encourage

business combinations, including through the

creation of networks, to achieve stable and

coordinated penetration of foreign markets and

to facilitate direct access to the capital markets

for sMes (including through specialised

intermediaries). 

in 2013, italy’s gdP contracted by a significant

1.9%, continuing the recessionary trend seen in

2012 (when gdP fell by 2.4%) continued. this

performance, which was much weaker than

that of the euro area as a whole (-0.5%), stands

in contrast to the growth reported in the other

main european countries such as germany

(0.5%), france (0.3%) and the united Kingdom

(1.8%).

the decline in gdP was attenuated by the

performance of exports, which held remarkably

steady (+0.1%) compared with 2012.

inflation averaged 1.2% in 2013, down

considerably from the 3.0% reported in 2012.

13



14

flows came to €23.9 billion, an increase from

the €6.2 billion posted the previous year.

the general picture for the italian economy at

present and the uncertain outlook for recovery

once again confirm the urgency of the need for

manufacturers to expand their presence in

international markets, particularly in those

countries where demand is rising. 

italian companies, typically small and medium-

sized enterprises and, as a result, having

greater flexibility and decision-making speed,

must be supported in entering new foreign

markets with funding and capitalisation

policies aimed at promoting the development of

networks of enterprises and building

infrastructure and logistics platforms for

stable penetration of markets that are often far

away and that have economic and legislative

systems that require expert help to navigate,

help that is often not available at sustainable

costs to individual sMes.

the direct presence of italian companies abroad,

with the establishment of manufacturing and

commercial facilities, must be promoted with

assistance and financial support for enterprises

capable of competing. focus must be placed on

these companies, in particular, to ensure more

adequate capitalisation in italy, making it

possible for them to expand their manufacturing

base and innovate.

to achieve these goals, it will be necessary to

support the development of sMes in particular,

and to guarantee the necessary public

resources for the international expansion

instruments managed by siMest and to

consider strengthening siMest, in order to

better support the competitive development of

italian firms abroad, as well as those within

italy that are seeking to expand exports.
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development programme promoted by

Algeria’s Ministry of finance. the second,

organised by the Ministry of economic

development in cooperation with the leading

industry associations, was headed by the

deputy Minister of economic development

and aimed to encourage the establishment of

effective industrial partnerships between

italian and Algerian enterprises. siMest

participated in the mission by providing

assistance to the leaders of the delegation

during meetings with their Algerian

counterparts.

■ slovenia (ljubljana) – the mission

organised by the italian embassy in

ljubljana during the italian- slovenian

forum sought to strengthen industrial

cooperation, particularly with regard to

sMes.

■ indonesia (Jakarta) – the steering

committee for italian international

expansion sponsored a “system mission”

to Jakarta, organised by ice (italian trade

Promotion Agency) and confindustria.

Around 100 companies took part in the

initiative, which focused on the following

sectors: automotive products and parts,

infrastructure, energy and the

environment, telecommunications and

engineering. siMest participated in

institutional events and btob meetings by

providing assistance to the participating

companies.

■ brazil (são Paulo) – siMest took part in

two trade missions. the first was arranged

by ice and confindustria to promote trade

between the two countries in the oil & gas

sector. A select group of leading italian

companies in the sector, attracted by

interesting opportunities that are opening

in 2013, promotional and development

activities focused on domestic programmes to

disseminate information about siMest’s

products and services to italian companies

and on participation in foreign missions during

which the company provided ample technical

support to participating italian companies.

Activities involving the business
community and institutional
missions abroad
siMest offered its assistance to the italian

firms attending the business forums,

seminars and international fairs held during

the various foreign missions, during

numerous btob meetings. the company

aided them in gaining further information on

topics of interests and problems concerning

investment opportunities in the various

countries, with the goal of promoting

meetings with local firms in order to establish

partnerships. 

in italy siMest also played an active

operational role in country presentations and

meetings focusing on specific sectors held to

offer information on investment opportunities

and instruments that promote international

expansion by providing assistance to the

companies involved and by handling

organisational matters and institutional

relationships.

what follows is a description of the major

foreign missions in which siMest participated

through its support to italian companies.

■ Algeria (Algiers) – siMest took part in two

missions. Around 100 companies participated

in the first, organised by ANce (National

builders’ Association) and led by the deputy

Minister of economic development, which

focused on the multi-year infrastructure

15
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up the country as a result of oil and gas

discoveries, participated in the mission.

the second, also organised by ice and

confindustria, focused on the automotive

industry. siMest provided technical

support to the companies during btob

meetings and participated in the seminar

on financial tools available to help

companies do business in brazil.

■ united Arab emirates (Abu dhabi) – the

institutional and trade mission, led by the

deputy Minister of economic development

and organised by confindustria, ice and

Abi (italian banking Association),

presented an opportunity to emphasise the

excellent progress made in relations

between italy and the united Arab

emirates and the efforts being made to

strengthen the economic ties between the

two countries.

■ canada (toronto, Montreal, Vancouver and

calgary) – confindustria, in partnership

with the leading industry confederations,

gse, the italian embassy in ottawa and

ice, organised a trade mission to canada

dedicated to the infrastructure and

transportation, oil & gas and clean

technology sectors, providing companies

with a chance to learn about canadian

development programmes and federal and

state projects in those areas. siMest

contributed to the mission by assisting the

16
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Activities with business 
and institutions in italy
in 2013 siMest undertook a comprehensive

promotional programme involving the main

entities and institutions active in promoting

the international expansion of business.

collaboration with confindustria – the fruitful

collaboration with confindustria continued.

specifically, effort was put into developing

relationships with local industry associations,

with which the company organised numerous

“country workshops” and subsequent btob

meetings. these included a road show,

organised in partnership with Piccola

industria (the arm of confindustria dedicated

to small businesses), that stopped at various

italian cities to present information about

siMest in order to give these types of

businesses a better understanding of the tools

available.

collaboration with chambers of commerce –

likewise, siMest continued its collaboration

with various italian chambers of commerce:

unioncamere, Provincial chambers of

commerce, special agencies and

Assocamerestero.

during the year, the “business scouting and

sMe assistance” project was pursued by

siMest-Assocamerestero in order to develop

an assistance network and to identify

investment opportunities for italian companies

seeking to operate in foreign markets. the

italian chambers of commerce Abroad

operating in brazil, singapore, south Africa,

canada, turkey, colombia and india were also

involved in the pilot phase of the project.

the initiatives were held in various regions of

italy and were of an operational nature,

focusing on the opportunities that these

countries offer italian undertakings and on

siMest tools that can be used to enter these

markets.

attending companies in developing

investment projects and strengthened its

own network of institutional contacts with

local counterparts. 

■ united states (washington, d.c., san

francisco, boston and los Angeles) – the

trade mission, organised by confindustria,

the italian embassy in washington, d.c.

and ice, focused on the aerospace,

biotechnology and it industries. Around 50

companies took part in the mission, whose

goal was to raise the visibility of italian hi-

tech products in the u.s. market.  siMest

provided technical support to the

undertakings during meetings with local

companies and took advantage of the

opportunity to further develop its own

network of contacts with u.s.

counterparts.

■ Malaysia and singapore (Kuala lumpur

and singapore) – the trade mission,

organised by confindustria, ice and

unioncamere, in cooperation with siMest,

the leading industry confederations and

gse was timed to coincide with the

institutional visit of the deputy Minister of

economic development to Asia. its goal

was to further explore potential

commercial and industrial cooperation in

the two markets and identify numerous

opportunities springing from the

membership of both countries in AseAN

(Association of southeast Asian Nations).

during the mission, siMest provided

technical support to the participating

companies during bilateral meetings. 
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collaboration with the italian banking

Association (Abi) and the banking system -

the collaboration with Abi continued, existing

collaboration with the major banking groups

was strengthened during the year and work

proceeded on expanding the network of

relationships with other italian banks. these

include:

■ Veneto banca group – the long-standing

collaboration with this group was

strengthened with the signing of an

agreement to promote awareness and

understanding of the support tools available

from siMest through workshops,

promotional events and other programmes

aimed at its staff and customers.

■ Mediocredito trentino Alto Adige – the

partnership established some time ago

with the bank was further strengthened

through a partnership agreement calling

for the development, promotion and

circulation of opportunities available from

siMest and Mediocredito targeted at firms

to help them expand internationally.

for several years siMest has participated in

the “Abi country Risk forum – observatory

for tracking developments in the country risk

of emerging economies”, basing its

contribution on its operations in these

countries.

collaboration with ice – italian trade

Promotion Agency – siMest also continued to

be active, in collaboration with ice, in

promoting italian companies by participating

in “country workshops”, economic forums and

meetings with foreign delegations. 

Regional international 
expansion offices
in 2013 siMest continued to provide operational

support for the regional international expansion

offices (sPRiNt) promoted by the Ministry of

economic development. siMest has been a

member of sPRiNt since the project got under

way. its goal is to help italian companies in their

international expansion initiatives through an

integrated system of information and financial

services. siMest representatives are found in

all the sPRiNts, which promote services aimed

at enterprises.

expanding the network 
of economic institutional
relationships
based on an operational decision made at the

very start of its operations, that of promoting

collaboration with a variety of partners

involved in international expansion to combine

their various expertise to help italian

enterprises succeed in international markets,

siMest signed important collaboration

agreements in 2013 with italian and foreign

entities, of which the following are the main

ones:

■ Abi, cdP, sAce – Among other things, in an

effort to strengthen the financial support for

italian exporters in order to make them more

competitive internationally, the agreement

raises the funds available to the “export

bank” under which cdP provides financial

support and sAce provides guarantees,

supplementing the financing tools available

to italian companies through banks for

international expansion and exports. the

agreement covers the shipbuilding,

building/construction, infrastructure and gas

& oil sectors. 

■ fiNest, uNicRedit and ZAo uNicRedit

bANK RussiA – this agreement was signed
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two “siMest incontra” events were held

during the year, the first in Rome in June and

the second in Milan in November. the purpose

of these events was to showcase renowned

experts on internal expansion, as well as

italian partner undertakings, who recounted

their direct experience with, and thereby

emphasised the value of, the support tools

available from siMest. these events, which

saw a high turnout from the general public, as

well as a substantial number of requests for

meetings for further information from the

companies that took part, were also closely

followed by the press.

in september, siMest, along with confindustria

emilia Romagna organised a meeting, timed to

coincide with the meeting of the company’s

board of directors meeting in bologna, with

local undertakings on how to better use the

available financial tools to help them grow

through international expansion. the event was

followed by a press conference and received

ample coverage in local newspapers.

in the latter part of the year, the institutional

advertising campaign was conducted through

a national newspaper and radio station. An

insert on international expansion was also

published in the same newspaper.

to promote the commercial expansion and

enhance the competitiveness of italian

companies in Russia. it is intended to

address the new and growing need of italian

entrepreneurs to invest and operate more

effectively in Russian federation countries.

communications initiatives
communications efforts were strengthened

further in 2013 with the goal of promoting

siMest’s activities to italian companies, its

primary target audience. Numerous

campaigns were therefore undertaken with

the major news agencies, newspapers and

business newspapers and magazine, which

provided ample coverage of the use made of

siMest tools and specialised services and

assistance by italian companies when

investing in italy and abroad.

More specifically, in 2013 the company

adopted a new logo which represents, through

its various elements, the support that siMest

provides to products “Made in italy”. in

addition, the new internet site was launched,

shifting the focus of communication from

siMest to the entrepreneur, portraying the

image of a modern, streamlined company that

uses interactive tools with users. the launch

was accompanied by a special advertising

campaign in the business press, through

selected local newspapers and through the

websites of the major newspapers.

communication campaigns were conducted

during all the foreign missions carried out

during the year. the campaigns emphasised

the work that siMest has performed

alongside italian companies. An intense

communication effort was conducted to mark

investment agreements in italy and abroad

with major italian companies and the signing

of collaboration agreements with banks and

institutions. 
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siMest supplies specialist advisory services

and assistance to italian firms, especially

sMes, in all the phases involved in the

planning, implementation and financial

support of investment projects abroad.

the company's advisory activity, which is

generally subsidiary and ancillary to its

mission of promoting investment abroad, is

therefore performed during major trade

missions and in the implementation phase of

specific investment projects.

services supplied in 2013 therefore covered

the following areas:

■ identifying investment opportunities and

potential local partners;

■ seeking out italian or foreign partners for

possible integration of productive, operational

and commercial processes; 

■ identifying appropriate sites for new

facilities;

■ assessing investment projects and assisting

in the preparation of feasibility studies;

■ carrying out economic and financial analyses

of proposed investments and evaluating their

profitability; 

■ advising on corporate and contractual

issues;

■ identifying suitable sources of local and/or

international finance;

■ legal, corporate and contractual assistance.
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Activities eligible 
for eu funding
As part of its activities in multilateral finance

and as an international financial institution (ifi)

at the european commission, throughout 2013

siMest, along with cdP, participated in the

group of experts (goe) platform for reviewing

financial blending mechanisms in preparation

for the new 2014-2020 programming cycle. 

the group, consisting of the commission and

european bilateral and multilateral financial

institutions, provided technical support to the

Policy group (comprising the european

commission and the Member states), which

presented the first document on the new

blending mechanisms and improvements to be

made to existing ones to the commission in

early 2014.

during technical group meetings, participants

addressed existing problems with blending

mechanisms and worked to improve the

governance structure of instruments (Nif,

ifcA, Aif, lAif, etc.), making a closer

examination of the private sector. 

More specifically, the commission assigned

siMest the role of leader in analysing sector

indicators. it presented its results, which were

developed in part through consultation with the

other financial institutions. 

siMest’s activity 
as financial advisor
based on the specific requests made by

interested enterprises, siMest provided advice

on economic and financial matters and the

related “financial monitoring” of enterprises

abroad, as well as help in dealing with local

partners and foreign and international

institutions.  

business scouting
in 2013 siMest continued to assist italian

companies in their search for foreign orders,

investments and partners, offering the services

of its professional staff, who have a

comprehensive understanding of international

markets. the search for partners and

investment opportunities focused mainly on the

international expansion of companies,

particularly those in renewable energy,

infrastructure, building/construction and

chemicals sectors, and on developing

collaboration agreements with Assocamerestero

(the Association of italian chambers of

commerce Abroad). in 2013, siMest conducted

a business scouting and assistance programme

for sMes in partnership with Assocamerestero,

focusing on identifying investment opportunities

for italian enterprises seeking to operate in

international markets. the programme

produced 49 sectoral studies on seven strategic

countries.  

in addition, again in an effort to assist

enterprises, siMest was appointed by the

Ministry of economic development to

conduct follow-ups of the agriculture/food

products, tourism, university education

and post-university training and clean

technologies sectors in the gulf states in

order to promote economic cooperation

between italy and the uAe. 
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in 2013 the board of directors approved 68

projects:

■ 52 new investment projects;

■ 8 capital increases by companies in which

siMest already had an equity interest;

■ 8 revisions of previously approved projects.

the companies in which siMest approved

investment in 2013 involve:

■ a total investment by siMest of €139.0

million;

■ total share capital of  €918.7  million;

■ total investment of €2,343.6 million.

of the geographical areas targeted by the

investments approved in 2013, Asia and

central and south America were prime

destination areas in terms of the number of

projects approved, followed by the european

union (in keeping with the new policy

introduced in 2011). however, this situation is

reversed when it comes to siMest’s financial

commitment, where initiatives in the eu

(€47.5 million in total commitments) are

particularly significant.

More specifically, with respect to investment

in non-eu countries, investments approved

were mainly directed towards countries with

high development potential and of primary

interest to italian companies, such as china,

brazil, Mexico and the usA.

china continues to be a major draw for

investments given the opportunities presented

by the overall size of the market and location

benefits in terms of the costs of the factors of

production. during the year, 12 projects were

approved for a total investment of €183.7

million, with a siMest commitment of about

€18.7 million.

in central and south America, there was

considerable focus on countries such as

brazil and Mexico. brazil attracted interest

because of the large size of its market, which

offers significant  opportunities related in part

to important upcoming sporting events (2014

world cup and the 2016 olympics) and to

certain strategic sectors (including the

automotive sector, which is of special interest

to italian companies). Mexico was seen as

attractive due to its productive base for

serving the local market and the nearby us

market. in 2013, there were 13 projects

approved for the two countries (8 in brazil and

5 in Mexico), with a total siMest commitment

of €25.7 million (€18.2 for brazil and €7.5

million for Mexico).

siMest’s commitment in the us market was

significant, although the number of projects

approved (3) was small, reflecting the high

value of the investments made (€726 million,

with a siMest commitment of €13.9 million).

this is mainly attributable to the considerable

investment being made in the Pet sector by a

major group. by contrast, investments in the

Mediterranean area and the Middle east were

more modest (3 projects for a total of €3.7

million, with a siMest commitment of €1.2

million) as a result of the instability affecting

the region tied to the social and political

upheaval following the “Arab spring”.

with regard to siMest’s activities in the eu,

where it began operating in 2011, italian

companies continued to show interest in

expanding in the area, with 11 new investment

projects in eu countries approved (for an overall

siMest commitment of about €47.5 million), 7

of which in italy (siMest commitment of €33.5

million) and 1 each in croatia, Poland, Romania

and spain.

the new projects approved were mainly in the

following sectors:
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overall, from the start of the company's

operations up to 31 december 2013, the board

of directors has approved a total of:

■ 1,279 investments in new projects (32 of

which for eu projects);

■ 88 project revisions (6 of which for eu

projects);

■ 164 supplements at companies in which

siMest already had an equity interest (3 of

which for eu projects);

with a total siMest commitment of €1,592.3

million (€131.6 million of which for eu

projects).

■ engineering (with a total siMest

commitment of €47.7 million, for 20 new

projects and 6 capital increases in

companies in which siMest already had an

equity interest);

■ agriculture/food products (with a siMest

commitment of €20.5 million, for 5 new

projects and 1 capital increase in a company

in which siMest already had an equity

interest);

■ chemicals/pharmaceuticals (3 new projects

for a siMest commitment of about €14

million);

■ services (6 new projects for a siMest

commitment of €9.7 million);

■ energy (4 new projects for a siMest

commitment of €9.7 million);

■ textiles/clothing (3 new projects for a

siMest commitment of €9.3 million);

■ building/construction (4 new projects for a

siMest commitment of €6.6 million);

■ other sectors (siMest commitment of €21.4

million for 7 new projects and 1 capital

increase).
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New PRoJects Number of Planned capital spending Planned share capital siMest commitment
projects (€ millions) (€ millions) (€ millions)

iNVestMeNts iN coMPANies APPRoVed iN 2013 - by couNtRy

eu - euRoPe

italy  7 964.0 196.9 33.5

croatia (1)  1  3.4 1.9 0.8

Poland           1  9.6 6.2  5.5

Romania   1  15.7 5.0 2.4

spain  1 16.1 12.1 5.3

11 1,008.8 222.1 47.5

NoN-eu euRoPe

croatia (1)   1  1.4 1.4 0.4

Russia 1 4.7 4.7 0.4

serbia 1 5.8 3.5 0.9

switzerland 1 15.0 7.8 2.2

ukraine 1 3.0 2.0 1.1

5 29.9 19.4 5.0

MediteRRANeAN ANd Middle eAst

Morocco 1 0.5 0.5 0.2

tunisia 2 3.2 3.2 1.0

3 3.7 3.7 1.2

sub-sAhARAN AfRicA

Kenya 1 1.1 1.2 0.3

1 1.1 1.2 0.3

AsiA ANd oceANiA

china 12 183.7 168.1 18.7

india    1 3.3 4.0 1.6

Kazakistan  1 4.5 4.5 1.5

14 191.5 176.6 21.8

ceNtRAl ANd south AMeRicA

brazil   8 141.6 75.1 18.2

Mexico 5 189.4 43.1 7.5

chile  1 0.5 2.5 1.3

Venezuela 1 9.0 9.0 3.3

15 340.5 129.7 30.3

NoRth AMeRicA

usA  3 726.4 331.8 13.9

3 726.4 331.8 13.9

totAl New PRoJects 52 2,301.9 884.5 120.0

Previously approved projects

capital increase/increase 
in amount appropriated  

8 41,7 34,2 19,0

Plan revisions 8

totAl   68 2.343,6 918,7 139,0

(1) in 2013 croatia successfully completed the process for admission to the european union, becoming a member starting from 1 July
2013. given this, the projects approved by siMest prior and subsequent to this event are reported separately (under different business
lines: "eu europe" and "non-eu europe"), based upon the date of approval by the siMest board.
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sectoRs Number of Planned capital spending Planned share capital siMest commitment
projects (€ millions) (€ millions) (€ millions)

iNVestMeNts iN  coMPANies APPRoVed iN 2013 - by sectoR

New PRoJects

engineering 20 936.0 232.2 36.0

services           6 68.2 53.5 9.7

Agriculture/food Products              5 128.5 43.1 16.5

building/construction      4   26.7 24.6 6.6

energy                       4   219.7 41.3 9.7

chemicals/Pharmaceuticals        3  708.7 279.8 14.1

textiles/clothing          3   16.6   17.4  9.3

electronics/it         2 33.2 47.1 9.7

other                                 1 2.9 7.3 2.2

Paper/Paper Products               1  15.0 7.8 2.2

Rubber/Plastics              1  3.3 4.0 1.6

wood/furniture      1  1.4 1.4 0.4

basic metals/steel        1  141.7 125.0 2.0

totAl New PRoJects  52  2,301.9 884.5 120.0

Previously approved projects

capital increase/increase
in amount appropriated      8 41.7 34.2 19.0

Plan revisions 8

totAl  68 2,343.6 918.7 139.0

iNVestMeNts iN coMPANies APPRoVed iN 2013 
Number of projects by geographical area 

6%

2%

27%

6%

9%
21% eu europe

9% Non-eu europe

6% Mediterranean and Middle east

2% sub-saharan Africa

27% Asia and oceania

29% central and south America

6% North America
29%

21%



siMest spA    Annual Report 2013

26

iNVestMeNt iN coMPANies APPRoVed fRoM stARt of oPeRAtioNs 
thRough 31 deceMbeR 2013 by RegioN* 
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iNVestMeNts iN coMPANies 
Projects approved at 31 december
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iNVestMeNts iN coMPANies APPRoVed fRoM stARt of oPeRAtioNs 
thRough 31 deceMbeR 2013 
Number of projects by country

iNVestMeNts iN coMPANies APPRoVed fRoM stARt of oPeRAtioNs 
thRough 31 deceMbeR 2013 
by country (€ millions)
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iNVestMeNts iN coMPANies APPRoVed fRoM stARt of oPeRAtioNs 
thRough 31 deceMbeR 2013 
Number of projects by sector
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equity investments 
in 2013 siMest acquired 41 equity investments

for a total of €88.6 million. More specifically, 

■ it acquired 29 new equity investments in

non-eu companies under law 100/1990 for

about €48.2 million;

■ it subscribed 4 capital increases and 7

revisions by non-eu companies in which it

already held a stake at 31 december 2012

for €7.2 million;

■ it acquired 7 new equity investments in

italian and eu companies for €29.2 million;

■ it subscribed a capital increase by a non-eu

company in which it already held a stake at

31 december 2012 for €4.0 million.

in 2013, the economic situation was

unfavourable, with low liquidity and a further

decline in domestic demand. italian companies

that began the international expansion of their

commercial and manufacturing businesses

were able to compensate for the decline in

domestic demand by taking advantage of

rapidly growing demand in foreign markets,

particularly in the bRic countries, Mexico, and

turkey.   

the italian companies investing in foreign

markets remained largely sMes, despite new

investments proposed by major italian groups.

Acquisitions were largely concentrated in the

engineering sector (38.9%), followed by

electronics/it (11.1%), and the rubber/plastics

and textiles/clothing sectors (about 8.3% each). 

the new investments mainly regarded

countries in the Americas (41.7%), Asia (27.8%),

and the eu countries (22.2%). 

Non-eu countries
in 2013 brazil overtook china as the country of

greatest interest to italian companies, inverting

the results of the previous years, with 9 new

investments (of which 7 new equity investments

and 2 capital increases) for a total siMest
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total operations from start 
of operations to 31 december 2013
from the start of operations up to the end of

2013 siMest has:

■ acquired shareholdings in 703 companies

and subscribed 271 capital increases and

revisions for a total of €842.3 million;

■ sold 448 shareholdings for a total of €388.4

million, after writedowns.

the geographical distribution of the 703

companies in which siMest had invested

since the start of 2013 did not change

significantly on the previous year: 

■ 44% in non-eu europe (with reference to

the countries in the eu at the time the

acquisition was made); 

■ 25% in Asia and oceania;

■ 21% in the Americas;

■ 8% in Africa;

■ 2% in eu.

As a result of the significant increase in the

portfolio of non-eu and eu equity investments

in 2013, totalling around €62.9 million

(acquisitions of €88.6 million and disposals of

€25.7 million), siMest had to draw further

upon lines of credit. 

At 31 december 2013 the commitments of

siMest's italian partners to purchase its

investments in foreign companies not secured

by bank or insurance guarantees amounted to

€324.1 million (compared with €248.8 million

at 31 december 2012). of the total, €204.2

million (€155.0 million at 31 december 2012)

regard commitments not secured by third-

party guarantees (of which €0.9 million

regarding investments in which major italian

banks participated) and €119.9 million (€93.8

million at 31 december 2012) regard

commitments backed by corporate guarantees.

commitments to repurchase investments

investment of €4.1 million. however, china

continues to attract interest, with 6 new

investments for total fixed investments of €33.7

million once the projects are completed, with a

total siMest investment of €8.4 million. 

in Mexico and chile, there were 2 new projects

in the renewable energy sector for a total of

€247.9 million once the projects are completed

and with a total siMest commitment of €9.9

million. in the united states, siMest

committed €9.8 million out of a total planned

investment of €698.4 million to a project in the

chemicals/pharmaceuticals sector. 

in 2013, in accordance with the contractual

arrangements with partner companies, 28

investments were sold for a total of €25.7

million, after writedowns. 

the disposals generated capital gains of €2.0

million.

following the changes in the portfolio of

investments, siMest held equity interests

valued at €379.4 million (after writedowns) in

238 non-eu companies at the end of 2013.  

eu countries
eu investment activity, begun in 2011 and

undertaken in italy or within the eu, continued to

expand significantly in 2013. there were 7 new

investments (4 in italy and 2 in central and

eastern europe and 1 in spain, in addition to a

capital increase for a company in which siMest

already held a stake) for a total outlay by siMest

of €33.2 million. these new investments were in

the services, textile/clothing, rubber/plastics,

agriculture/food products, engineering and

electronics/it sectors.

As a result of the acquisitions made in 2013,

siMest holds stakes in 17 italian and other eu

companies worth €74.5 million.
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secured by bank or insurance guarantees

amounted to €107.0 million (€118.0 million at

31 december 2012).

italian partners' commitments to repurchase

investments, taking account of the effective

net financial exposure, break down as

reported in the table below:

in 2013 siMest's portfolio of equity investments

earned a return of €24.3 million, including

dividends received from investee companies.

investments in italy
under law 19/1991 siMest holds an interest

of €5.4 million (acquired at a cost of €5.2

million) in fiNest s.p.A. of Pordenone (a

member of the fruilia group) corresponding

to 3.9% of the company’s paid-up share

capital of €137.2 million at 31 december 2013.

in 2012 and 2013, fiNest paid out a total of

€7.5 million in support of the business

community in the triveneto region, entirely

concentrated on equity transactions with 6

new shareholdings and 4 capital increases for

companies in which it had already invested. 

the amount of loans disbursed to foreign equity

investments fell by €3 million, reflecting fiNest’s

present commercial policy, emphasising direct

support in the form of equity capital.

the portfolio at 30 June 2013 held 75 equity

investments for a total of €60.2 million, with

total outstanding loans of €28.1 million.

Risk management
Pursuant to Article 2428 of the italian civil

code, with regard to the main risks and

uncertainties to which the company is

exposed in its equity investments, siMest has

implemented policies for managing financial

risk, including exposure to price risk, credit

risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 

siMest’s financial risk management policies

mainly regard equity investment activities. 

in order to manage the associated risks,

before investment proposals are brought to

the attention of the siMest board for final

approval, the Risk Management department of

siMest conducts a thorough assessment of

the proposals, both with regard to the

company proposing the investment and the

investment itself, in order to reduce the

financial/credit risk exposure involved.

following the risk assessment and approval of

32

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

% € millions % € millions

commitments not backed by guarantees 46.9% 204.2 41.8% 155.0

commitments backed by corporate guarantees 27.5% 119.9 25.3% 93.8

subtotal 74.4% 324.1 67.1% 248.8

commitments guaranteed by financial  
institutions and insurance companies 24.5% 107.0 31.9% 118.0

divided as follows:

- banks 24.3% 105.9 31.6% 116.6

- insurance companies 0.0% 0.2 0.0% 0.2

- loan guarantee consortia 0.2% 0.9 0.3% 1.2

commitments secured by collateral 1.1% 4.8 1.0% 3.7

- collateral security 1.1% 4.8 1.0% 3.7
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liquidity risk and interest rate risk are

monitored constantly using a cash flow

analysis approach, especially for equity

investments, taking due account of the

possibility of regulating inward flows from

equity investments with options and outward

flows by regulating payments to the individual

investees. this monitoring activity has enabled

siMest to obtain on good terms and

conditions (taking account of the rating

assigned by financial institutions to siMest)

credit lines needed to manage company cash

flows.

in order to balance sources and uses of funds,

taking account of the need for financial balance

associated with the cycle of acquisitions and

the proposal, the specification and completion

of the agreement with the partner may

proceed, in accordance with the established

guidelines and instructions.

At the acquisition stage, all related

information, subordinated instruments and

guarantees are verified.

financial/credit risk of the partners and the

investee company is constantly monitored,

using periodic financial reporting and

management information.

Price risk and foreign exchange risk in respect

of equity investments are mitigated using

contractual language guaranteeing that

siMest will recoup its investment at the price

paid in euros for the acquisition.
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Mossi e ghisolfi s.p.A. brazil
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sol s.p.A. Albania
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iV. generic provisions are recognised for

country risk;

V. provisions are recognised for potential

losses on investments guaranteed by

partners or other guarantors that, in the case

of changes in the situation of the partner or

guarantor, would expose siMest to larger

financial risks. 

transactions with related parties
with regard to transactions with the controlling

shareholder, cassa depositi e Prestiti s.p.A. (a

company that exercises management and

coordination over siMest), and the companies

of the cdP group, pursuant to Article 2428 of

the italian civil code, siMest, cdP and sAce

signed the export bank convention regarding

the financing of international expansion and

exports of italian businesses, with cdP

providing financial support and sAce offering

the guarantee. these group synergies made it

possible to achieve adequate operational levels

for export credit transactions.

in addition, the compensation to be paid to the

two executives representing cdP on siMest’s

board of directors was determined. As to the

other cdP group companies, siMest entered

into a project with fincantieri s.p.A., taking a

stake in the share capital of the joint foreign

subsidiary fincantieri usA iNc., as well as

receiving professional services from sAce

s.p.A. under a contract to review the

environmental assessment parameters (oecd

parameters) for export credit support. these

transactions with related parties were entered

into on market terms and conditions.

disposals of equity investments, two

operational hedging transactions, in the total

amount of €40.0 million, were carried out at

advantageous terms and conditions compared

with long-term loans, through interest rate

swaps.

in other matters concerning interest rate risk,

the quantification of the return on equity

investments is defined flexibly over time,

taking account of market developments. 

the goal is to specify a return that is sufficient

to absorb the impact of changes in borrowing

rates over the short, medium and long term.

the continuing difficulties faced by most of the

world’s economies counsel a prudent

approach in measuring general financial risks

in considering the possible economic effects

on those companies with the greatest

exposure to investments in foreign markets.

Accordingly, compared with the methods used

to determine provisions described below,

specific attention has been focused on

assessing possible interaction between the

country risk associated with an investment

and the emergence of financial risk in respect

of the partner company.

the main policies adopted in assessing the

financial risk to which siMest is exposed during

its management of the financial instruments

representing its equity investments are as

follows:

i. no provisions are recognised where the

investments are secured by guarantees

issued by banks or insurance companies;

ii. generic provisions are recognised for

potential losses on investments guaranteed

by partners or other guarantors listed on a

stock exchange;

iii. generic provisions are recognised for

potential losses on investments guaranteed

by partners or other guarantors that are not

listed on a stock exchange;
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foreign company italian Partner country

eQuity iNVestMeNts AcQuiRed iN 2013

1 iRRitec do bRAsil iNdustRiA e coMeRcio 

de eQuiPAMeNtos PARA iRRigAcAo ltdA
iRRitec s.p.A. bRAZil engineering bRl 13,364,541 32.44% 4,335,421 1,600,000,00 28-Jan-2013

2 siNteRAMA de MeXico sA de c.V. siNteRAMA s.p.A. MeXico textiles/clothing MXP 76,050,067 28.47% 21,650,000 1,278,587,57 01-feb-2013

3 cogNe hoNg KoNg liMited cogNe AcciAi sPeciAli s.p.A. chiNA / hoNg KoNg basic metals/steel usd 20,003,091 14.70% 2,940,000 2,206,378,99 15-feb-2013

4 cMs PRecisioN MechANicAl MANufActuRiNg

(wuJiANg) coMPANy liMited 
c.M.s. s.p.A chiNA engineering euRo 3,000,000 24.50% 735,000 735,000,00 16-feb-2013

5 sAiRA AsiA iNteRioRs sAiRA euRoPe s.p.A. iNdiA engineering euRo 168,000,000 27.38% 46,000,000 638,445,52 22-feb-2013

6 bolZoNi holdiNg hoNg KoNg co ltd bolZoNi s.p.A. chiNA / hoNg KoNg engineering euRo 10,760,000 7.58% 815,600 810,000,00 22-Mar-2013

7 K-fleX iNdiA PRiVAte liMited l'isolANte K-fleX s.r.l. iNdiA Rubber/Plastics iNR 683,254,630 41.75% 285,288,860 5,000,000,00 02-Apr-2013

8 eXPRiViA do bRAsil seRVicos de iNfoRMAticA ltdA eXPRiViA s.p.A. bRAZil electronics/it bRl 5,890,664 10.72% 631,250 250,000,00 03-Apr-2013

9 coRNAgliA tuRKey s.r.l. officiNe MetAlluRgiche 

coRNAgliA s.p.A. (ex coR-tubi s.p.A.)
tuRKey engineering tRl 5,500,000 26.66% 1,466,325 629,594,25 03-Apr-2013

10 whi AcQuisitioN coRP (gNutti cARlo usA) gNutti cARlo s.p.A. usA engineering usd 34,559,734 5.79% 2,000,000 1,525,204,00 18-Apr-2013

11 VeRoNA fieRe do bRAsil eNte AutoNoMo per le fieRe di VeRoNA bRAZil services bRl 7,141,372 17.00% 1,214,033 464,161,39 03-May-2013

12 eMil gRouP do bRAsil ltdA eMilceRAMicA s.p.A. bRAZil building/construction bRl 800,000 23.75% 190,000 83,333,00 26-Jun-2013

13 sAMP wiRe MAchiNeRy (shANghAi) co. ltd. sAMP s.p.A. chiNA engineering usd 5,486,000 28.56% 1,567,000 1,177,752,72 03-Jul-2013

14 MAccAfeRRi (PhiliPPiNes) MANufActuRiNg iNc. officiNe MAccAfeRRi s.p.A. PhiliPPiNes building/construction PhP 148,254,000 46.30% 68,640,000 1,320,000,00 04-Jul-2013

15 M&g usA coRPoRAtioN Mossi & ghisolfi iNteRNAtioNAl s.A. usA chemicals/Pharmaceuticals usd 106,000,000 12.26% 13,000,000 9,803,921,57 30-Jul-2013

16 MAgNAghi bRAsil ltdA MAgNAghi AeRoNAuticA s.p.A. bRAZil engineering bRl 9,135,794 24.28% 2,218,500 750,000,00 23-sep-2013

17 PeuteRRey hoNg KoNg co. ltd. g & P Net s.p.A. chiNA / hoNg KoNg textiles/clothing hKd 56,722,060 28.20% 15,994,295 1,550,000,00 27-sep-2013

18 sAMe deutZ tuRKey sAMe deutZ - fAhR itAly s.p.A. tuRKey engineering tRl 21,043,075 10.12% 2,129,901 900,000,00 03-oct-2013

19 AsPeN AVioNics ciRA s.p.A. usA electronics/it usd 31,176,929 2.45% 765,060 600,000,00 22-oct-2013

20 eolicA ZoPiloAPAN sAPi de cV  - eNel eNel gReeN PoweR PARteciPAZioNi sPeciAli s.r.l. MeXico energy MXP 1,877,201,536 3.52% 66,073,881 5,000,000,00 11-Nov-2013

21 gAsPARiNi MeRcosul- iNdustRiA

gAsPARiNi s.p.A. bRAZil 
e coMeRcio de MAQuiNAs ltdA

engineering bRl 2,886,774 45.91% 1,325,206 441,000,00 25-Nov-2013

22 oMP MechtRoN MeXico sA de c.V. oMP MechtRoN s.p.A. MeXico engineering MXP 15,093,000 22.22% 3,354,000 200,000,00 28-Nov-2013

23 RossiNi iNdiA PRiNtiNg RolleRs PVt ltd RossiNi s.p.A. iNdiA Rubber/Plastics iNR 335,000,000 25.00% 83,750,000 993,240,04 02-dec-2013

24 coMuteNsili do bRAsil coMuteNsili s.p.A. bRAZil engineering bRl 1,452,750 24.67% 358,400 112,000,00 02-dec-2013

25 fochistA belisce doo fochistA s.r.l. cRoAtiA wood/furniture hRK 8,387,200 34.99% 2,935,100 386,000,00 09-dec-2013

26 bRoVedANi ReMe MeXico s.A. de c.V. bRoVedANi gRouP s.p.A. MeXico engineering MXP 171,449,932 25.80% 44,227,250 2,500,000,00 16-dec-2013

27 dedAlus southeRN AfRicA ltdA dedAlus s.p.A. south AfRicA electronics/it RANd 33,358,560 20.83% 6,949,700 500,000,00 18-dec-2013

28 dAMiANi hoNg KoNg ltd dAMiANi s.r.l. chiNA / hoNg KoNg other hKd 72,500,000 27.43% 19,884,000 1,871,470,52 27-dec-2013

29 PARQue eolico tAliNAy oRieNte s.A. eNel gReeN PoweR s.p.A. chile energy clP 66,092,165,171 4.52% 2,990,156,624 4,922,902,66 30-dec-2013

totAl New NoN-eu eQuity iNVestMeNts No.     29 48,248,992,23 
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1 iRRitec do bRAsil iNdustRiA e coMeRcio 

de eQuiPAMeNtos PARA iRRigAcAo ltdA
iRRitec s.p.A. bRAZil engineering bRl 13,364,541 32.44% 4,335,421 1,600,000,00 28-Jan-2013

2 siNteRAMA de MeXico sA de c.V. siNteRAMA s.p.A. MeXico textiles/clothing MXP 76,050,067 28.47% 21,650,000 1,278,587,57 01-feb-2013

3 cogNe hoNg KoNg liMited cogNe AcciAi sPeciAli s.p.A. chiNA / hoNg KoNg basic metals/steel usd 20,003,091 14.70% 2,940,000 2,206,378,99 15-feb-2013

4 cMs PRecisioN MechANicAl MANufActuRiNg

(wuJiANg) coMPANy liMited 
c.M.s. s.p.A chiNA engineering euRo 3,000,000 24.50% 735,000 735,000,00 16-feb-2013

5 sAiRA AsiA iNteRioRs sAiRA euRoPe s.p.A. iNdiA engineering euRo 168,000,000 27.38% 46,000,000 638,445,52 22-feb-2013

6 bolZoNi holdiNg hoNg KoNg co ltd bolZoNi s.p.A. chiNA / hoNg KoNg engineering euRo 10,760,000 7.58% 815,600 810,000,00 22-Mar-2013

7 K-fleX iNdiA PRiVAte liMited l'isolANte K-fleX s.r.l. iNdiA Rubber/Plastics iNR 683,254,630 41.75% 285,288,860 5,000,000,00 02-Apr-2013

8 eXPRiViA do bRAsil seRVicos de iNfoRMAticA ltdA eXPRiViA s.p.A. bRAZil electronics/it bRl 5,890,664 10.72% 631,250 250,000,00 03-Apr-2013

9 coRNAgliA tuRKey s.r.l. officiNe MetAlluRgiche 

coRNAgliA s.p.A. (ex coR-tubi s.p.A.)
tuRKey engineering tRl 5,500,000 26.66% 1,466,325 629,594,25 03-Apr-2013

10 whi AcQuisitioN coRP (gNutti cARlo usA) gNutti cARlo s.p.A. usA engineering usd 34,559,734 5.79% 2,000,000 1,525,204,00 18-Apr-2013

11 VeRoNA fieRe do bRAsil eNte AutoNoMo per le fieRe di VeRoNA bRAZil services bRl 7,141,372 17.00% 1,214,033 464,161,39 03-May-2013

12 eMil gRouP do bRAsil ltdA eMilceRAMicA s.p.A. bRAZil building/construction bRl 800,000 23.75% 190,000 83,333,00 26-Jun-2013

13 sAMP wiRe MAchiNeRy (shANghAi) co. ltd. sAMP s.p.A. chiNA engineering usd 5,486,000 28.56% 1,567,000 1,177,752,72 03-Jul-2013

14 MAccAfeRRi (PhiliPPiNes) MANufActuRiNg iNc. officiNe MAccAfeRRi s.p.A. PhiliPPiNes building/construction PhP 148,254,000 46.30% 68,640,000 1,320,000,00 04-Jul-2013

15 M&g usA coRPoRAtioN Mossi & ghisolfi iNteRNAtioNAl s.A. usA chemicals/Pharmaceuticals usd 106,000,000 12.26% 13,000,000 9,803,921,57 30-Jul-2013

16 MAgNAghi bRAsil ltdA MAgNAghi AeRoNAuticA s.p.A. bRAZil engineering bRl 9,135,794 24.28% 2,218,500 750,000,00 23-sep-2013

17 PeuteRRey hoNg KoNg co. ltd. g & P Net s.p.A. chiNA / hoNg KoNg textiles/clothing hKd 56,722,060 28.20% 15,994,295 1,550,000,00 27-sep-2013

18 sAMe deutZ tuRKey sAMe deutZ - fAhR itAly s.p.A. tuRKey engineering tRl 21,043,075 10.12% 2,129,901 900,000,00 03-oct-2013

19 AsPeN AVioNics ciRA s.p.A. usA electronics/it usd 31,176,929 2.45% 765,060 600,000,00 22-oct-2013

20 eolicA ZoPiloAPAN sAPi de cV  - eNel eNel gReeN PoweR PARteciPAZioNi sPeciAli s.r.l. MeXico energy MXP 1,877,201,536 3.52% 66,073,881 5,000,000,00 11-Nov-2013

21 gAsPARiNi MeRcosul- iNdustRiA

gAsPARiNi s.p.A. bRAZil 
e coMeRcio de MAQuiNAs ltdA

engineering bRl 2,886,774 45.91% 1,325,206 441,000,00 25-Nov-2013

22 oMP MechtRoN MeXico sA de c.V. oMP MechtRoN s.p.A. MeXico engineering MXP 15,093,000 22.22% 3,354,000 200,000,00 28-Nov-2013

23 RossiNi iNdiA PRiNtiNg RolleRs PVt ltd RossiNi s.p.A. iNdiA Rubber/Plastics iNR 335,000,000 25.00% 83,750,000 993,240,04 02-dec-2013

24 coMuteNsili do bRAsil coMuteNsili s.p.A. bRAZil engineering bRl 1,452,750 24.67% 358,400 112,000,00 02-dec-2013

25 fochistA belisce doo fochistA s.r.l. cRoAtiA wood/furniture hRK 8,387,200 34.99% 2,935,100 386,000,00 09-dec-2013

26 bRoVedANi ReMe MeXico s.A. de c.V. bRoVedANi gRouP s.p.A. MeXico engineering MXP 171,449,932 25.80% 44,227,250 2,500,000,00 16-dec-2013

27 dedAlus southeRN AfRicA ltdA dedAlus s.p.A. south AfRicA electronics/it RANd 33,358,560 20.83% 6,949,700 500,000,00 18-dec-2013

28 dAMiANi hoNg KoNg ltd dAMiANi s.r.l. chiNA / hoNg KoNg other hKd 72,500,000 27.43% 19,884,000 1,871,470,52 27-dec-2013

29 PARQue eolico tAliNAy oRieNte s.A. eNel gReeN PoweR s.p.A. chile energy clP 66,092,165,171 4.52% 2,990,156,624 4,922,902,66 30-dec-2013

totAl New NoN-eu eQuity iNVestMeNts No.     29 48,248,992,23 

sector share capital siMest's holding siMest's holding date
currency Amount % in local currency (at € cost) acquired
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foreign company italian Partner country

cAPitAl iNcReAses/eXPANsioNs At NoN-eu coMPANies AcQuiRed iN 2013

1 VeRoNA fieRe do bRAsil eNte AutoNoMo per le fieRe di VeRoNA bRAZil services bRl 7,141,372 8.00% 571,310 189,425,09 03-May-2013   

2 tesMec usA tesMec s.p.A. usA engineering usd 31,200,000 16.03% 5,000,000 3,711,401.43 25-Nov-2013  

3 iK-iNsulAtioN liMited l'isolANte K-fleX s.r.l. u.A.e. Rubber/Plastics Aed 75,250,000 20.13% 15,150,000 3,000,000.00 16-dec-2013

4 eXPRiViA do bRAsil seRVicos de iNfoRMAticA ltdA eXPRiViA s.p.A. bRAZil electronics/it bRl 5,890,664 13.62% 802,295 250,000.00 27-dec-2013

totAl cAPitAl iNcReAses/eXPANsioNs - NoN-eu No.    4 7,150,826.52 

foreign company italian Partner country

New eQuity iNVestMeNts iN eu coMPANies AcQuiRed iN 2013

1 Pet coMPANiA PARA su ReciclAdo s.A.u. deNtis s.r.l. sPAiN Rubber/Plastics euRo 3,182,235 33.90% 1,078,735 2,000,000.00 08-Jan-2013

2 tecNocAP s.R.o. tecNocAP gRouP PARteciPAZioNi s.r.l. cZech RePublic engineering csK 122,000,000 18.03% 22,000,000 2,914,602.98 05-Mar-2013

3 stilNoVo MANAgeMeNt s.r.l. stilNoVo PARteciPAZioNi s.r.l. itAly other (services alle imprese) euRo 154,750 20.19% 31,250 250,000.00 07-Mar-2013

4 MAglitAl s.r.l. fiNAc s.r.l. itAly textiles/clothing euRo 6,428,571 30.00% 1,928,571 5,000,000.00 10-Jul-2013

5 feRRARiNi sP.Zo.o. feRRARiNi s.p.A. PolANd Agriculture/food Products PlZ 7,197,000 30.53% 2,197,000 5,000,000.00 21-Nov-2013

6 ids s.p.A. fiNsis s.p.A. itAly electronics/it euRo 13,171,240 24.08% 3,171,140 8,999,979.12 03-dec-2013

7 bRicofeR itAly s.p.A. sig.ri PulciNelli e gAVAl iNteR s.r.l. itAly other euRo 34,332,000 12.62% 4,332,000 5,000,000.00 06-dec-2013

totAl New eQuity iNVestMeNts iN eu No.    7 29,164,582,10 

foreign company italian Partner country

cAPitAl iNcReAses/eXPANsioNs iN eu coMPANies iN which iNVestMeNt 
AlReAdy held iN 2013

1 PAstA ZARA s.p.A. ffAuf s.p.A. itAly Agriculture/food Products euRo 68,000,000 5.88% 4,000,000 4,000,000.00 10-dec-2013

totAl cAPitAl iNcReAses/eXPANsioNs - eu No.     1 4,000,000.00 

totAl New eQuity iNVestMeNts 2013 - eu  No.     8 33,164,582.10 

ReVisioNs No.     7

totAl New eQuity iNVestMeNts/ ReVisioNs No.    48 88,564,400.85
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1 VeRoNA fieRe do bRAsil eNte AutoNoMo per le fieRe di VeRoNA bRAZil services bRl 7,141,372 8.00% 571,310 189,425,09 03-May-2013   

2 tesMec usA tesMec s.p.A. usA engineering usd 31,200,000 16.03% 5,000,000 3,711,401.43 25-Nov-2013  

3 iK-iNsulAtioN liMited l'isolANte K-fleX s.r.l. u.A.e. Rubber/Plastics Aed 75,250,000 20.13% 15,150,000 3,000,000.00 16-dec-2013

4 eXPRiViA do bRAsil seRVicos de iNfoRMAticA ltdA eXPRiViA s.p.A. bRAZil electronics/it bRl 5,890,664 13.62% 802,295 250,000.00 27-dec-2013

totAl cAPitAl iNcReAses/eXPANsioNs - NoN-eu No.    4 7,150,826.52 

sector share capital siMest's holding siMest's holding date
currency Amount % in local currency (at € cost) acquired

sector share capital siMest's holding siMest's holding date
currency Amount % in local currency (at € cost) acquired

sector share capital siMest's holding siMest's holding date
currency Amount % in local currency (at € cost) acquired

1 Pet coMPANiA PARA su ReciclAdo s.A.u. deNtis s.r.l. sPAiN Rubber/Plastics euRo 3,182,235 33.90% 1,078,735 2,000,000.00 08-Jan-2013

2 tecNocAP s.R.o. tecNocAP gRouP PARteciPAZioNi s.r.l. cZech RePublic engineering csK 122,000,000 18.03% 22,000,000 2,914,602.98 05-Mar-2013

3 stilNoVo MANAgeMeNt s.r.l. stilNoVo PARteciPAZioNi s.r.l. itAly other (services alle imprese) euRo 154,750 20.19% 31,250 250,000.00 07-Mar-2013

4 MAglitAl s.r.l. fiNAc s.r.l. itAly textiles/clothing euRo 6,428,571 30.00% 1,928,571 5,000,000.00 10-Jul-2013

5 feRRARiNi sP.Zo.o. feRRARiNi s.p.A. PolANd Agriculture/food Products PlZ 7,197,000 30.53% 2,197,000 5,000,000.00 21-Nov-2013

6 ids s.p.A. fiNsis s.p.A. itAly electronics/it euRo 13,171,240 24.08% 3,171,140 8,999,979.12 03-dec-2013

7 bRicofeR itAly s.p.A. sig.ri PulciNelli e gAVAl iNteR s.r.l. itAly other euRo 34,332,000 12.62% 4,332,000 5,000,000.00 06-dec-2013

totAl New eQuity iNVestMeNts iN eu No.    7 29,164,582,10 

1 PAstA ZARA s.p.A. ffAuf s.p.A. itAly Agriculture/food Products euRo 68,000,000 5.88% 4,000,000 4,000,000.00 10-dec-2013

totAl cAPitAl iNcReAses/eXPANsioNs - eu No.     1 4,000,000.00 

totAl New eQuity iNVestMeNts 2013 - eu  No.     8 33,164,582.10 

ReVisioNs No.     7

totAl New eQuity iNVestMeNts/ ReVisioNs No.    48 88,564,400.85
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iNVestMeNts AcQuiRed iN coMPANies iN 2013 
Number of projects by geographical area
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eQuity iNVestMeNts AcQuiRed 
by year (€ millions)
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eQuity iNVestMeNts  AcQuiRed fRoM stARt of oPeRAtioNs thRough 31.12.2013
Number of projects by countries/size
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investments and 1 regarding a capital increase

(for expansion and/or development of foreign

companies in which the fund has already

invested). this figure does not include 18 plan

updates and revisions.

More specifically, the resolutions envisage:

■ a total commitment under the unified

Venture capital fund of €17.0 million;

■ a total cumulative investment by the foreign

companies of €155.2 million, funded by

share capital of €124.7 million.

As indicated above, the total value of

investments (€17.0 million) and the number of

projects (30) approved in 2013 is lower than in

2012 (45 projects for a total fund commitment

of €22.7 million) due to the issues noted

previously. however, the average amount of

the fund’s commitment per project has

decreased significantly in recent years as a

result of the operational policies adopted by

the guidance and oversight committee in

response to the gradual contraction in the

resources available.

the geographical breakdown of the projects

approved in 2013 were essentially concentrated

on investments in those areas and countries

that continue to figure into and are central to

the international expansion strategies of the

companies. More specifically, Asia – with 11

new projects approved (of which 8 in china and

3 in india) for a fund commitment of €7.5

million – and central and south America – 13

projects approved (fund commitment of €6.7

million) divided mainly between brazil (7

projects for €3.1 million) and Mexico (5 projects

for €3.1 million) – account for more than 80% of

the investments approved in 2013.

in 2013, the operations of the unified Venture

capital fund continued to follow the well-

established operational framework and

procedures in place since it began in 2001. this

made it possible to provide adequate

institutional and financial support for

international expansion by italian companies

(especially sMes) in addition to and synergic

with direct investment by siMest.

the significant use of this important instrument

by companies since its introduction and the

lack of additional available resources in the

absence of refinancing had an effect on the

volumes of activity and on the total investments

approved, which were lower than in previous

years. the reduction in volumes seen over the

year was also partly affected by the twin issues

of the renewal of the Management Agreement

with the Ministry of economic development and

the composition of the decision-making body

(the guidance and oversight committee,

formed within the Ministry), factors that led to a

reduction in operations in the first 9 months of

the year, with ground partly regained starting

from october (following the appointment of the

new members of the committee).

it should nonetheless be noted that the process

of reacquiring equity investments at the end of

the fund’s maximum holding period (8 years)

involved much greater volumes than in the

past, with the consequent flow of the

associated amounts into funds available for

further investment.

Projects approved
in 2013, 30 investments were approved by

resolution of the guidance and oversight

committee, of which 29 involving new

43
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there was no change in the sectoral breakdown

of the investments and commitments approved,

with engineering (accounting for 60% of the

projects approved and 45% of the fund’s total

commitment) continuing to perform strongly

given the importance of this sector in the italian

economy. the remaining investments approved

were equally divided among the rubber/plastics,

building/construction, services, textiles/clothing

and agriculture/food products sectors (2

projects per sector, for a total commitment of

€7.1 million).

equity investments acquired
in 2013 acquisitions of equity investments

through the unified Venture capital fund

totalled €12.6 million and involved:

■ 21 new equity investments in companies

abroad – in addition to the stakes acquired

directly by siMest and/or fiNest  – for

€12.4 million;

■ 1 capital increase and 5 plan revisions in

companies in which the unified fund had

already invested at 31 december 2012 in the

amount of €0.2 million. 

the geographical distribution of new

investments by the fund showed brazil (6

equity investments and 1 capital increase)

overtaking china as the preferred country, for a

total of €2.4 million. however, china continued

to attract a great deal of interest, with 5 new

equity investments for a total of €3.9 million. 

Acquisitions were made in various countries,

including croatia, india, Mexico, Russia, south

Africa and turkey.

in 2013, under agreements with partner

companies, siMest divested 19 equity

investments for a total of €11.8 million. 

following these changes, at the end of 2013

siMest held equity investments through the

Venture capital fund in 193 companies abroad

(191 in 2012) totalling €174.8 million (€174.0

million in 2012). 

the equity investments at the end of 2013 show

a geographical distribution similar to that for

2012 and are especially concentrated in the

following countries:  

■ china (66 companies with a total

commitment for the fund of €63.6 million);

■ Russian federation (11 companies with a

total commitment for the fund of €17.6

million)

■ Romania (17 companies with a total

commitment for the fund of €12.8 million).
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Number of Planned share fund
Projects investments capital investment

(€ millions) (€ millions) (€ millions)

AsiA ANd oceANiA      11 52.4 53.0 7.5

china 8 37.8 36.8 5.3

india 3 14.6 16.2 2.2

AfRicA, Middle eAst ANd the MediteRRANeAN 3 11.5 12.1 1.6

Morocco 1 0.5 0.5 0.1

tunisia 1 2.6 2.6 0.4

turkey 1 8.4 9.0 1.1

ceNtRAl ANd south AMeRicA 13 80.5 53.0 6.7

brazil 7 34.3 29.9 3.1

chile 1 0.5 2.5 0.5

Mexico 5 45.7 20.6 3.1

eAsteRN euRoPe 3 10.8 6.6 1.2

Russia 1 1.9 1.1 0.2

serbia 1 5.9 3.5 0.5

ukraine 1 3.0 2.0 0.5

totAl 30 155.2 124.7 17.0

of which:

capital increase/ 1 10.6 4.2 0.4
increase in appropriation

broken down as follows:

AsiA ANd oceANiA 1 10.6 4.2 0.4

china 1 10.6 4.2 0.4

VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd
equity investments approved in 2013 by area/country
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VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd
equity investments approved in 2013 - distribution by area (number)
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Number of Planned share fund
Projects investments capital investment

(€ millions) (€ millions) (€ millions)

brazil 7 34.3 29.9 3.1

chile 1 0.5 2.5 0.5

china 8 37.8 36.8 5.3

india 3 14.6 16.2 2.2

Morocco 1 0.5 0.5 0.1

Mexico 5 45.7 20.6 3.1

Russia  1  1.9 1.1 0.2

serbia 1 5.9 3.5 0.5

tunisia 1 2.6 2.6 0.4

turkey 1 8.4 9.0 1.1

ukraine 1 3.0 2.0 0.5

totAl 30 155.2 124.7 17.0

of which:

capital increase/  1    10.6 4.2 0.4

increase in appropriation

broken down as follows:

china 1 10.6 4.2 0.4

VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd
equity investments approved in 2013  by country
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VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd   
equity investments approved from start of operations through 31.12.2013 - by area (number)
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VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd 
equity investments approved from start of operations through 31.12.2013 - by area (amount)
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Number of Planned share fund
Projects investments capital investment

(€ millions) (€ millions) (€ millions)

Africa, Middle east and the Mediterranean 86 1,002.3 646.9 68.8

central and south America 66 1,217.4 618.2 48.4

Asia and oceania 185 1,464.8 1,066.5 155.0

eastern europe 152 1,296.4 876.7 120.0

totAl 489 4,980.9 3,208.3 392.2

* gross of waivers/cancellations and contractual reimbursements

VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd
equity investments approved from start of operations through 31.12.2013 - by area

Number of Planned share fund
Projects investments capital investment

(€ millions) (€ millions) (€ millions)

Albania                 5 102.4 49.6 5.8
Algeria      1 0.8 1.0 0.1
Angola                2 26.2 10.3 2.7
saudi Arabia           1 382.5 156.9 4.2
Argentina         2 3.9 5.9 0.4
bosnia                 5 41.5 24.9 3.4
brazil                   39 550.6 363.7 26.0
bulgaria                      11 137.2 62.3 8.4
chile      5 344.8 59.2 5.2
china                    146 1.207.5 857.9 128.2
croatia                 12 107.1 60.6 5.7
egypt                   13 93.7 55.4 8.5
eritrea                       2 5.1 5.8 1.8
guatemala                 1 180.6 86.4 4.2
india                        35 208.9 174.8 23.5
cape Verde  1 28.0 22.0 6.6
israel                     2 14.7 9.9 2.8
Kosovo     1 6.1 5.0 1.1
Kuwait                       1 0.6 0.8 0.1
libya                 3    34.7 17.1 1.7
Macedonia                  2   16.2    16.3 2.6
Malesia                       1 9.1 8.7 0.8
Morocco                   7 19.9 13.8  3.2
Mauritius                   1     0.5 0.7 0.2
Mexico                      18    133.3 97.4   11.2
Nigeria                          1    4.7   5.5 0.4
Moldova                  3      7.6 6.3          0.8
Romania                           48        231.4  153.3  29.9
Russia                           37       504.8    363.9   48.1
s. Vincent & the grenadines       1        4.1 5.6      1.6
senegal                       3  3.4   3.1      0.8
serbia-Montenegro           21     115.6  120.9 11.3
south Africa                     6      119.3  107.3 6.0
thailand                 3       39.2   25.1 2.5
tunisia                     30    164.2    145.9    21.2
turkey                        12       104.1   91.3     8.4

ukraine   7           26.5    13.7    2.9

totAle                 489    4,980.9   3,208.3    392.2

* gross of waivers/cancellations and contractual reimbursements

VeNtuRe cAPitAl fuNd
equity investments approved from start of operations through 31.12.2013 - by country
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the start-up fund, a new instrument for firms

established with decree 102 of 4 March 2011

and managed by siMest, began operations in

2013.

under the provisions of the decree, the fund’s

purpose is to carry out initiatives – on market

terms and conditions – to support the start-up

phase of projects by individual italian sMes or

groups of sMes to expand internationally into

countries outside of the european union.

the fund operates by acquiring a non-

controlling interest (up to 49%) in the share

capital of the newly formed company

(headquartered in italy or in another eu

country) that is responsible for pursuing the

international expansion project.

the fund guidance and oversight committee

was formed at the end of 2012 and held its first

3 meetings in 2013, approving 5 new projects.

the resolutions approving the equity

investments acquired call for:

■ a total commitment for the fund of €0.96

million;

■ investments by companies totalling €4.8

million;

■ share capital covering of planned investments

equal to €3.6 million.

based upon the initial operations conducted

since the launch of the fund and in

consideration of a number of concerns that

have arisen due to the application of the

regulations, a review of the operating

procedures is currently being conducted, which

could result in the Ministry of economic

development suspending fund operations in

the near future.

equity investments acquired
during the year, 2 equity investments were

acquired through the start-up fund totalling

€0.4 million.
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abroad (law 133/2008, Article 6,

paragraph 2, letter b – Ministerial

decree of 21 december 2012, Article 3,

paragraph 1, letter b);

• improving and preserving the financial

stability of exporter sMes (law 133/2008,

Article 6, paragraph 2, letter c) –

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012,

Article 3, paragraph 1, letter c1);

• promotional initiatives by sMes related to

first-time participation in a trade show

and/or exhibition in non-eu markets (law

133/2008, Article 6, paragraph 2, letter c –

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012,

Article 3, paragraph 1, letter c2).

under the terms of an agreement with fiNest

and on the latter's behalf, the company also

manages the preliminary proceedings and

disbursement of contributions drawing on the

fund set up by law 295/1973 for operations

pursuant to law 19/1991.

the support programmes are governed by two

agreements between siMest and the then

Ministry of foreign trade, one for each fund

(fund established by law 295/1973 and fund

established by law 394/81). A support

committee is responsible for administering the

funds.

on the basis of siMest analyses, in 2013 the

committee approved 388 operations totalling

€5,069.0 million (compared with 501 operations

totalling €4,658.2 million in 2012), of which:

■ 195 with a value of €4,923.3 million (169 with

a value of €4,462.7 million in 2012) involving

interest rate support drawing on the fund

established by law 295/1973;

■ 193 with a value of €145.7 million (332 with

a value of €195.5 million in 2012) involving

facilitated loans drawing on the fund

established by law 394/1981. 

international expansion gives companies

access to a wider customer base, a larger

number of suppliers or a greater impetus to

use new technologies. in general, international

expansion opens up opportunities for

increasing profits, provides a path to long-term

survival and makes firms more competitive, all

of which are the main advantages of this type of

strategy.

there are a number of tools available to italian

companies to help them pursue international

expansion. Among these tools, siMest has

been entrusted with administering the financial

facilities for the public support of exports and

other forms of international expansion of the

italian economy. the activity regards:

■ the fund established by Article 3 of law

295/1973; the activity consists in:

• stabilising interest rates, in accordance

with the oecd rules for public support

for export credit (legislative decree

143/1998, chapter ii);

• providing interest rate support for loans

for direct investment in foreign firms

(law 100/1990, Article 4, and law

317/1991, Article 14);

■ the revolving fund established by Article 2 of

law 394/1981 which, pursuant to law 133 of

6 August 2008 as amended and the

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012, is

allocated to granting loans at below-market

rates for:

• undertaking foreign market penetration

programmes ( law 133/2008, Article 6,

paragraph 2, letter a – Ministerial decree

of 21 december 2012, Article 3,

paragraph 1, letter a);

• pre-feasibility and feasibility studies and

technical assistance programmes

connected with italian investment

51
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lAw 295/1973 fuNd
A) export credit (legislative decree 143/1998,

chapter ii.

this programme is aimed at supporting

sectors involved in the production of capital

goods (plants, machinery, infrastructure,

public transportation, telecommunications,

etc.) that offer deferrals of payment on

medium/long-term orders to foreign

customers located, to a large extent, in

emerging countries.

the public support programme uses

methods that counter the effects that the

systems employed by the export credit

Agencies (ecAs) of other countries have on

the competitiveness of italian exports.

siMest’s programmes are designed to

protect the foreign customer from the risk

of changes in the interest rate, allowing

foreign customers to obtain medium/long-

term financing at the fixed rate set by the

oecd based on the ciRR (commercial

interest Reference Rate), through the buyer

and supplier credit mechanisms. the

support programmes – supplier credit and

buyer credit– are designed to meet the

needs of different industrial sectors.

■ the supplier credit programme identifies

cases in which the exporter directly extends

deferred payment to the foreign customer,

which may also be represented by a foreign

sales/distribution company of the group or a

trader, setting the terms and conditions

(medium/long-term at the ciRR rate) of

payment in the contract. siMest’s

programme makes it possible for the

exporter to assign on a non-recourse basis

the instruments issued by the foreign debtor

in exchange for deferred payment (with or

without sAce insurance coverage), enabling

them to discount the receivable at a cost as

comparable as possible with that of the

products typical of other ecAs (insurance

policies, guarantees, direct financing). the

programme is the primary source of funding

for the export of machinery and small plant,

utilised especially by medium-sized

undertakings. so-called “multi-delivery

contracts” concerning one or more types of

machinery, plant or other capital goods (with

delivery over a regulated period initially set

at 2 years and 6 months) contribute to the

programme’s effectiveness. this enables

exporters to plan sales campaigns, offering

conditions that incorporate direct or indirect

benefits for the buyer through the availability

of interest rate support payable in a lump

sum. 

■ the buyer credit programme applies where

a financial institution grants a loan to a

foreign customer to pay the purchase price

to an italian supplier. unlike the supplier

credit system, the customer pays the

exporter in cash drawing on the funding

granted by the bank at the ciRR fixed rate.

the siMest programme, through so-called

“interest rate stabilisation policies” or

“interest make-up” (iMu), makes it possible

for the bank to raise funds at floating rates

while charging the ciRR fixed rate to the

foreign buyer. the exchange of cash flows

arising from interest rate differentials

generated by this practice may result in

income to fund 295/73 (a revolving fund).

the programme is normally used for large-

value transactions (more than €10 million)

with an average maturity of more than 7

years, for the supply of plant, infrastructure

and transport equipment. these operations

generally require insurance coverage from

sAce.

52



R
e

P
o

R
t o

N
 o

P
e

R
A

tio
N

s

to the extent possible the adverse effects of the

crisis on the ability of italian companies to

compete, the banks’ spread on transactions

covered by iMu agreements was between 100

and 150 basis points in 2013. Nevertheless, the

spreads demanded by banks were partially

absorbed by borrowers/customers, through

the surcharge on the ciRR rate, which

averaged 175 basis points during the year.

in 2013, despite suffering the full effects of

the heightening of the sovereign debt crisis,

a crisis that has made it difficult to access

financing and has increased borrowing

costs, the volume of operations for the two

programmes (€4,682.3 million) remained at

a level similar to 2012 (€4,348.0 million).

under siMest’s interest rate support

programmes, which are intended to mitigate
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despite these restrictions, exporters have

generally affirmed the importance of having the

siMest programmes available in permitting

them to maintain a volume of turnover that

would otherwise have been reduced further. 

in 2013, out of the €4,682.3 million in total

deferred principal amount approved, €2,906.9

million (62.1%) related to the supplier credit

programme for medium-sized plant,

machinery and parts, 30.3% of which for sMes.

the remaining €1,775.4 million (37.9%)

allocated to the buyer credit programme was

used for transactions involving large

companies under major supply contracts

(54.5%) involving large orders. specifically, the

shipbuilding industry represented 51.4% of the

total, followed by plant (28.6%) and

infrastructure (16.9%).

these percentages relate to suppliers who

have signed export agreements. it is normal for

all suppliers of capital goods to involve various

smaller firms as sub-contractors.
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siMest eXPoRt cRedit PRogRAMMes  
deferred principal amount and expenditure commitment in € millions (2004 - 2013) 
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support conditions when there are delays in

deliveries due to the crisis. these

operations, with some €2.9 billion approved

in 2013, represent 99.1% of the entire

supplier credit programme.

As regards the geographical distribution of

operations by approved deferred principal

amount, 38.5% is classified as “other

countries”, essentially reflecting the multi-

delivery contracts that make use of distributors

active on the international market and for

which individual deliveries are established after

the conclusion of the contract. for the

remainder, which regards exports to individual

countries, the largest shares regarded latin

America (21.0%) and the european union

(15.4%).

the following factors contributed to keeping

the volumes of use of the siMest programme

high:

a) availability of interest rate support

(margins for banks), which contributes to

narrowing the gap between the cost of

funds available in italy and from

competitors; 

b) stability, represented by the possibility of

offering the debtor a fixed rate associated

with a public support programme during a

period in which these are available at low

levels;

c) flexibility in utilising credit lines,

commercial contracts and so-called

“multi-delivery contracts”, making it

possible to maintain the original financial
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B) support for investment in foreign companies

(Article 4 of law 100/1990 and Article 2 of

law 19/1991)

the mechanisms envisaged under Article 4 of

law 100/1990 provide for italian firms to

receive interest rate support for loans taken

out to finance part of their equity investments in

foreign companies in non-eu countries in

which siMest has acquired an interest.

A similar mechanism is in place for

investments in foreign companies in which

fiNest has acquired an interest under Article

2, paragraph 7 of law 19/1991, with respect to

companies located in the triveneto area for

loans taken out to finance part of their equity

investments in central and eastern europe and

the c.i.s. countries.

the support is granted, for a loan from a bank

authorised to operate in italy, for a maximum of

8 years, in an amount up to 50% of the

reference rate for the industrial sector (in 2013,

the average reference rate and the average

support rate were 4.438% and 2.219%

respectively). the operation covers 90% of the

equity investment of the applicant italian

company, up to 51% of the share capital of the

foreign company.

in 2013, 39 operations were approved with a

value of €241.0 million. 

over the last ten years, an average of 68

operations per year were approved. the decline

reported since 2006 is not only attributable to

the elimination of support for investments in

countries recently admitted to the eu, but also

to the global crisis over the last six years.

the geographical distribution of projects

approved in 2013 shows latin America and the

caribbean countries in first place by amount

financed (71.8%) and by number of projects

(38.5%). 
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addressed, respectively, the regulations

applicable to foreign market penetration

programmes, studies and technical assistance

programmes and capitalisation for exporter

sMes.

Article 42 of law 134/2012 (the 2013 stability

Act) made slight changes to law 133/2008 by

introducing a reserve for allocation to sMes of

70% per annum of the fund 394/81 resources

and indicating that the terms, procedures and

conditions for the support programmes, the

activities and responsibilities of the operator,

the control functions, as well as the

composition and duties of the support

committee, are to be established by a decree of

a non-regulatory nature issued by the Ministry

of economic development, rather than by way

of ciPe resolutions.

therefore, in application of this law, the Ministry

of economic development issued Ministerial

decree of 21 december 2012 (published in the

gazetta ufficiale, issue no. 85 of 11 April 2013).

this was followed by the support committee’s

implementing resolutions of 2 december 2013,

whose application was postponed until

publication of those resolutions on siMest’s

website. this decree, which replaces ciPe

resolutions nos. 112/2009 and 113/2009 to the

extent indicated therein, makes a number of

changes to existing programmes, particularly

capitalisation support for exporter sMes, and

introduces a new programme (marketing

and/or promotion of the italian brand) for

financing participation by sMes in trade shows

and exhibitions in non-eu markets. the decree

also requires that 50% of the fund’s resources

available at 31 december of each year be

allocated to capitalisation transactions and the

new italian brand marketing and/or promotion

programme.

finally, Article 1, paragraph 27 of law 147/2013

(the 2014 stability Act) increased the funding

As for italian companies making investments,

Veneto and lombardy are the regions with the

largest number of projects (17.9%) and lazio

leads in terms of amount financed (64.9%). 

the breakdown by industry confirms that

engineering remains on top in terms of number

of operations (51.3%), while energy leads in the

amount financed (64.9% ).

As to the size of the italian companies receiving

support, large companies accounted for a

larger portion of total programmes compared

with 2012 (going from 60% to 74.4%), as well as

total amount financed (rising from 86.9% to

97.8%). 

lAw 394/1981 ReVolViNg
fuNd
the system of support under the Revolving

fund established under Article 2 of law

394/1981 is governed by law 133/2008 of 6

August 2008, as amended, which specifies new

eligibility categories under Regulation (ec) no.

1998/2006 concerning de minimis aid (starting

from 1 January 2014, Regulation (eu) no.

1407/2013, published in the official Journal of

the european union of 24 december 2013).

the terms, procedures and conditions for the

support programme were set out in

interministerial committee for economic

Planning (ciPe) Resolutions nos. 112 and 113

of 6 November 2009. More specifically,

Resolution no. 112 provided for a new

capitalisation support programme for exporter

sMes, while Resolution no. 113 regarded

foreign market penetration programmes, pre-

feasibility and feasibility studies and technical

assistance programmes associated with

investment projects, programmes already

provided for under fund 394/1981. finally, the

support committee approved a series of

decisions collected in three circulars (nos.

2/2010, 3/2010 and 4/2010). the circulars
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for fund 394/1981 by €50 million for 2014.

the support committee suspended the

acceptance of new capitalisation funding

applications from exporter sMes with a

resolution dated 12 december 2011. this

suspension remained in effect for the entire

2012–2013 period.

these events had a considerable impact on the

results for 2013, as they had in 2012, since

companies interested in international

expansion were only able to take advantage of

the two traditional support programmes

focusing on foreign market penetration and on

studies and technical assistance, essentially a

return to the “pre-capitalisation” situation.

the suspension of the programme therefore

led to a great deal of renewed interest in

foreign market penetration programmes and a

steady but cautious increase in applications for

funding for feasibility studies. this occurred

despite the considerable difficulties that

companies are having in obtaining the required

guarantees and the limited type of funding

support (largely consisting of the difference

between the reference rate and the support

rate).

finally, while in 2012 “approved” projects

continued to include numerous capitalisation

funding applications that were submitted prior

to the suspension in december 2011 and were

therefore examined by the committee in

subsequent months, there were no

capitalisation transactions in 2013, which

explains the decrease in the total number of

projects approved.

the figures for 2013 nevertheless show that

companies remained committed to

international expansion, the only path deemed

useful in withstanding the financial crisis and

its profoundly negative impact on the real

economy. finally, the percentage of sMes as

recipients of support under fund 394/1981

remained high as compared with large

companies, amounting to around 80%. 

A) Programmes to break into foreign markets

(law 133/2008, Article 6, paragraph 2,

letter a – Ministerial decree of 21

december 2012, Article 3, paragraph 1,

letter a))

the Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012

set out the main features of the foreign market

penetration programmes, which are generally

those contained in ciPe Resolution no.

113/2009, and at the same time introduced

certain changes, delegating the support

committee with the task of issuing the specific

implementing resolutions. More specifically,

the committee approved circular no. 5/2013 on

2 december 2013 containing the regulations

applicable to this type of loan, which will enter

into force upon publication on siMest’s

website.

the loans have a maximum term of six years,

compared with the seven years provided for

under the previous circular (no. 2/2010),

including a two-year grace period. 

As to the volume of loans, in 2013 transactions

approved numbered 171 with a value of €142.9

million, up 33% both in terms of number of

loans and of amount compared with 2012 (129

loans for €107.7 million).

A breakdown of loans approved by

geographical area in 2013 shows the main area

of interest are Asia (27%), followed by North

America (24%), the reverse of the previous

year. these were followed by central and south

America, central and eastern europe and the

Mediterranean and the Middle east.

At the country level, the united states remains

the main destination country, with 39 loans

approved, followed by china (32), brazil (19) and

Russia (11).
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of changes, delegating the support committee

to issue the specific implementing resolutions.

As a result, the committee approved circular

no. 6/2013 on 2 december 2013 containing the

regulations applicable to this type of loan,

which will enter into force upon publication on

siMest’s website.

the loans have a maximum term of up to three

years (studies) and three and a half years

(technical assistance programmes), compared

with five years including a two-year grace

period under the previous circular (no. 3/2010). 

the maximum loan amount is:

■ €100,000.00 for studies related to commercial

investments;

■ €200,000.00 for studies related to productive

investments;

finally, a breakdown by size of the firms that

carry out foreign market penetration

programmes shows that sMes represent about

80%, consistent with 2012.

B) support for pre-feasibility and feasibility studies

and technical assistance programmes

(legislative decree 133/2008, Article 6,

paragraph 5, letter b - Ministerial decree of 21

december 2012, Article 3, paragraph 1, letter b)

the Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012

established the main characteristics for pre-

feasibility and feasibility studies and technical

assistance programmes related to

investments, following those set out in ciPe

Resolution no. 113/2009. it also made a number

59

PRogRAMMes to bReAK iNto foReigN MARKets 
geographical distribution of the number of loans granted in 2013

24%

27% Asia

24% North America

17% central and south America

13% central and eastern europe

13% Mediterranean and the Middle east

3% oceania

2% sub-saharan Africa

1% Non-eu western europe

27%

17%

13%

13%

2%
1%

3%



siMest spA    Annual Report 2013

■ €300,000.00 for technical assistance

programmes.

in 2013 the committee approved a total of 22

projects (20 studies and 2 technical assistance

programmes) for around €2.8 million, slightly

up from 2012 (19 loans approved for €2.5

million).

once again, the same observations on the

performance of these instruments in 2012 can

be made for 2013. the number of funding

applications remained limited, although higher

than during the two-year period in which

capitalisation funding was available. 

A breakdown of loans by geographical area

shows the Mediterranean and the Middle east

in first place (7 loans approved), followed by

North America (5 approved) and by central and

south America, Asia and central and eastern

europe (3 loans each).

the united states led among the countries

attracting investment in 2013, with 5 projects,

followed by china and brazil with 3 each and

croatia with 2, while only 1 loan was approved

for the rest of the countries.

in 2012 the most popular area was central and

eastern europe, and the united states, china

and brazil were the only countries in which

more than 1 project was approved.

finally, in terms of size of companies that

carried out feasibility studies and technical

assistance programmes, there was a slight

contraction in the sMes as applicants,

accounting for 82% of projects approved in

2013 compared with 90% in 2012.
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in 2012 the committee approved 184 projects

totalling €85.3 million relating to applications

received prior to the suspension. however, in

2013, preparations began for the review of the

2nd phase of the projects approved in prior

years, the process involves an inspection of

the financial statements filed for the second

year following the date of disbursement of the

loan to determine the repayment terms

(subsidised rate with an instalment payment

plan or repayment in a lump sum at the

reference rate). this review process involves a

new examination of financial performance and

the preparation of a report to be submitted to

the support committee. in addition, the

procedure requires annual reviews during the

five-year repayment period based upon the

financial statements filed for the year starting

from the beginning of the repayment phase

(for those companies that successfully

completed the 2nd phase). in 2013, 45 loans in

the 2nd phase were reviewed.

D) support to sMes for promotional initiatives

related to first-time participation in a trade

show and/or exhibition in non-eu markets

and/or promoting the italian brand (law

133/2008, Article 6, paragraph 2, letter c –

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012,

Article 3, paragraph 1, letter c2)

finally, the Ministerial decree of 21 december

2012 established a new support programme for

sMes that plan to participate in a trade

show/exhibition in one or more non-eu

markets, ordering the support committee to

issue the necessary implementing resolution.

the committee therefore approved circular no.

8/2013 on 2 december 2013 setting out the

applicable rules for this type of loan that will

enter into force on the date it is published on

siMest’s website.

C) support to improve and preserve the

financial stability of exporter sMes (law

133/2008, Article 6, paragraph 2, letter c -

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012,

Article 3, paragraph 1, letter c1)

As stated previously, the Ministerial decree of

21 december 2012 replaced ciPe Resolution

no. 112/2009, which set the terms, conditions

and procedures for the capitalisation support

programme for exporter sMes, radically

altering its terms and conditions.

the decree also requires that 50% of the

fund’s resources available at 31 december of

each year be allocated to capitalisation

transactions and the new italian brand

marketing and/or promotion programme.

the main changes introduced with the

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012 to the

rules established by ciPe Resolution no.

112/2009 were incorporated into the

implementing resolution approved by the

committee on 2 december 2012 (circular no.

7/2013) which, as has already been stated, will

come into force upon publication on siMest’s

website.

before turning to the capitalisation funding

activity in 2013, reference should be made to

the information set out above on the support

committee’s decision to suspend the

instrument due to the growth in loan

applications seen in 2011. the purpose of the

measure, achieved through the new provisions

of the Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012,

was to contain the decrease in unused

available funding under fund 394/1981 and to

modify the terms and conditions of the support

programme.

with regard to 2013 specifically, the decrease

in approvals as compared with 2012 is

explained by the fact that no applications for

capitalisation funding were processed, while
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operations operations  outstanding   
approved in 2013 at 31.12.2013

export credit buyer credit 1,775.4 4,530.0

(legislative decree 
supplier credit 2,906.9 1,646.1

143/1998, chapter ii)

direct investment abroad
241.0 613.7

(laws 100/1990 and 19/1991

Market penetration projects (laws 394/1981 and 
142.9 143.8

133/2008 Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012)

Participation in international tenders 
// //

(law 304/1990

Pre-feasibility and feasibility studies and 

technical assistance programmes (legislative 2.8 7.5
decree 143/1998 Article 22.5 – law 133/2008 

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012)

capitalisation support* (law 133/2008 
255.8

(Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012)

(*) Number of reviews (2nd phase) of 

capitalisation funding transactions (law 133/2008 45

Ministerial decree of 21 december 2012)

fiNANciAl suPPoRt ActiVities foR fiRMs oN behAlf of the stAte 
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At 31 december 2013 there were 74 interest rate

swaps outstanding with 10 leading international

banks within the framework of the directive

issued by the Ministry.

the year-end portfolio of transactions for which

support had been disbursed was as follows:

As the manager of the fund set up under law

295/1973 for interest stabilisation purposes,

siMest is authorised by the Ministry of the

economy and finance to hedge the fund's

interest rate and foreign exchange risk in order

to optimise the management of the cost of such

risks to the state.
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deferred principal amount (€ millions)

currency total unhedged hedged % hedged

usd 2,316.1 788.4 1,527.7 65.96 %

euR 943.2 410.5 532.7 56.48 %

hedgiNg tRANsActioNs foR the fiNANciAl suPPoRt fuNds
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the need to ensure an ever more effective and

efficient relationship with the italian business

world prompted siMest to establish the italian

desk function, which reports directly to the

development and Advisory department and

that seeks to expand the use of siMest

products and services, coordinating all the

activities undertaken for this purpose.

furthermore, the need to focus institutional

relations activities more closely led to the

creation of the institutional Relations and

studies function, which reports to and

supports top management. for the same

reason, the communication and Media

Relations department also reports directly to

top management.

two junior managers were hired for the

investments department and the investment

Assessment and financing department at the

end of the year in support of the organisational

model and the resulting turnover in the

company.

training continued to be tailored to developing

the company’s professional skill base and

providing specialised skill upgrading

(specialised technical courses to improve

business process management, in line with

national and international regulations). other

training activities focused on enhancing

organisational skills (courses focusing on

developing technical skills that can improve

performance) and providing courses to develop

it skills and language training.

in february 2013, the yearly renewal inspection

was performed for iso Quality certification

9001:2008, and the certification of the

occupational health and safety Management

system under ohsAs 18001:2007 was

successfully completed. 

As in the past, attention continued to be

devoted to environmental issues, with the

implementation of a number of energy saving

initiatives, such as the exclusive use of recycled

paper and careful management of

differentiated waste collection.

At the end of 2013 the company had 157

employees, an increase of one from the

previous year, the result of the exit of two

employees and the hiring of one middle

manager and two new employees. during the

year the employee seconded to the Ministry of

economic development to handle liaison duties

regarding the activities and programmes

entrusted to siMest returned to the company.

the composition of staff for 2013 once again

shows a large number of middle managers

possessing the technical expertise required for

siMest's business.
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oRgANisAtioNAl stRuctuRe

eMPloyees

Personnel at Personnel at 

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

senior management 10 10

Middle management 78 76

other employees 69 70

totAl 157 156

AVeRAge PAyRoll iN 2013

the figures include part-time personnel: 25 staff at 31 december 2013
(a decrease of three from 31 december 2012)

Average          Average          

2013 2012

senior management 10.00 10.61

Middle management 73.15 70.07

other employees 63.72 65.18

totAl 146.87 145.86
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in 2013, represent the fair value of two financial

instruments held. they are similar in nature to

the provisions for risk and, therefore, for the

purposes of this analysis, are included in the

total for these provisions.

developments in financial items in 2013,

resulting mainly from flows in respect of

investments and disposals in equity

investments and the considerable expansion in

the portfolio once again required use of a line of

credit, leaving financial payables in the amount

of €147.7 million at 31 december 2013. 

At 31 december 2013, provisions for liabilities

and contingencies and financial liabilities

amounted to about €71.6 million, of which

€3.6 million in respect of the increase in 2013

that was prompted by the need to take

account of any risks associated with our

business, bearing in mind the impact of the

international financial and economic crisis on

siMest’s activities and providing further proof

of siMest’s financial stability. these

provisions were increased significantly to

cover possible financial risks, insolvencies

and unrecoverable assets also attributable to

the current economic environment. 

More specifically, the provision for general

financial risks amounted to €59.8 million, an

increase of €4.0 million with respect to the

previous year to provide both for the generic

risk of losses on equity investments   taking

account of the size of the portfolio at the end of

the year, the mix of guarantees on repurchase

commitments from partners or guarantors

and country risk   and the risk borne by siMest

as manager of the financial support funds

under laws 295/1973 and 394/1981 and the

Venture capital fund. 

bAlANce sheet
At 31 december 2013, the company's balance

sheet showed assets of €512.1 million, an

increase of €65.2 million compared with the

previous year (€446.9 million at 31 december

2012).

the change in assets primarily involved the

substantial rise in the value of the portfolio of

equity investments, which went from €396.2

million at 31 december 2012 to €459.0 million

at the end of last year, the net outcome of new

acquisitions amounting to €88.6 million and

disposals totalling €25.7 million. 

At 31 december 2013, receivables (which

comprise receivables from customers, other

assets and accrued income and prepaid

expenses) came to €52.7 million, an increase of

€2.5 million on the previous year, due primarily

to the increase in receivables from customers

(+€1.6 million).

expenditure on property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets amounted to €0.2 million,

mainly for the upgrading of the software used

to manage siMest's operating activities.

Amortisation and depreciation totalled €0.3

million.

on the liabilities side, at 31 december 2013

payables (comprising other liabilities with the

exception of financial liabilities, accrued

expenses and deferred income, provisions for

staff severance benefit and the tax provision)

totalled €39.4 million, a decrease of €3.4 million

compared with €42.8 million at 31 december

2012, mainly attributable to the decrease in

payables in respect of equity investments.

financial liabilities held for trading under the

item “other liabilities”, which fell by €0.5 million
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the provision for potential losses on

receivables at 31 december 2013 was

increased by €0.3 million to €5.4 million to

cover potential future losses on receivables

due to insolvency or uncollectibility, while the

provision for other liabilities and contingencies

amounted to €4.9 million to take account of any

charges that the company could incur in the

future. 

shareholders' equity at 31 december 2013

amounted to €253.4 million (€246.4 million at

31 december 2012), invested entirely in foreign

equity investments, which at the balance-sheet

date were equal to 181% of shareholders'

equity. the change for the year is explained in

Part d of the notes to the financial statements.

financial commitments at 31 december 2013

included €184.1 million for purchases of

siMest's share of equity interests in projects

that have been approved, an increase of €18.0

million on the previous year).

the cash flow statement for 2013, with

comparative figures for 2012, is reported in

Part d of the notes to the financial statements.

At 31 december 2013, current assets (€42.4

million) exceeded current liabilities (€35.8

million) with a beneficial impact on siMest’s

general liquidity position.
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2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Assets

equity investments 459.0 396.2 343.8 292.2 275.6

liquid assets --- --- ---    1.0 0.1

Receivables 52.7 50.2 49.7     46.8 37.7

Property, plant and equipment and intangibles 0.4 0.5 0.4    0.5 0.7

totAl Assets 512.1 446.9 393.9 340.5 314.1

liabilities and provisions

Payables and tax provisions 39.4 42.8 42.5 34.0 24.3

financial debt 147.7 89.7 49.4 17.5 15.3

Provisions for liabilities and contingencies
and financial liabilities 71.6 68.0 62.2 55.1 45.4

totAl liAbilities 258.7 200.5 154.1 106.6 85.0        

shareholders' equity

share capital 164.6   164.6   164.6  164.6 164.6   

Reserves and share premium account 75.5 68.8 63.0 58.2 54.0

Net profit for the year 13.3 13.0 12.2 11.1 10.5

totAl shAReholdeRs' eQuity 253.4 246.4 239.8 233.9 229.1

totAl liAbilities ANd shAReholdeRs' eQuity 512.1 446.9 393.9   340.5 314.1

guarantees issued

commitments for equity investments
to be completed 184.1 166.1 210.7 158.0 116.4

Roe 8.1% 7.9% 7.4% 6.7% 6.4%

ReclAssified bAlANce sheet foR the lAst fiVe yeARs
at 31 december (€ million)
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under law 394/1981), exceeding by 27% the

cap of €18.6 million, taking into account the

methodologies for calculating the fees and

commissions for 2013 provided for in the

agreement with the government for the

administration of the support funds and the

absence of agreements covering certain

support instruments managed.

the company's direct costs (€22.0 million) fell

significantly compared with the previous year

(€22.9 million in 2012), despite the significant

increase in business volumes and management

of export support activities in 2013.

Administrative and operating costs (€21.4

million) were in line with 2012, in spite of the

continuous qualitative and quantitative expansion

of corporate processes and the impact of

inflation on such costs. costs in respect of

professional services comprise both the costs for

the use of in-house resources and the additional

cost of outsourced professional services. total

additional costs for external professional

services, which are matched by corresponding

revenues in the programmes of the Ministry of

economic development entrusted to siMest,

came to €0.6 million, compared with €1.5 million

in 2012.

operating profit amounted to €25.7 million,

compared with €23.6 million in 2012, a

substantial increase (€2.1 million).

Provisions and writedowns for the year

amounted to €5.2 million. the provisions for

liabilities add up to a significant total amount

with the aim of protecting the company from

any risks associated with its business

operations, taking account of the continuing

domestic and international recession, in line

with a prudent assessment of business

activities and risks.

iNcoMe stAteMeNt
last year closed with a net profit of €13.3

million, up on the €13.0 million posted in 2012,

after provisions of €8.9 million for current and

deferred income tax (€7.3 million in 2012). As a

result Roe rose from 7.9% to 8.1%. 

total net revenues rose by €1.2 million in 2013,

from €46.5 million in 2012 to €47.7 million. 

Revenues from equity investments came to

€24.4 million, an increase of €4.0 million due to

positive developments in new acquisitions and

disposals of equity investments, which

generated fees from equity investments of

€24.3 million, the highest level since the start

of business and an increase of €4.0 million on

2012, and €0.1 million in dividends.

Revenues from professional services came

to €6.2 million in 2013, down from the

previous year largely due to the contraction

in funding allocated for ministerial

programmes managed by siMest. they

include all income from the management of

the Venture capital fund and specialised

consulting and assistance services for

foreign investment projects. they also

include revenues from the administration of

international expansion programmes, such

as business scouting, sPRiNt and the

special business scouting programme

carried out with Assocamerestero. 

Net expenses in respect of liquid assets came

to €1.8 million in 2013 (compared with net

expenses of €0.9 million in 2012) as a result of

expenses relating to the use of lines of credit to

cover the cash flow requirements in respect of

equity investments and expenses relating to the

writedown of current receivables.

the management of the financial support

funds generated substantial fees in 2013

(€18.1 million for the fund set up under law

295/1973 and €5.5 million for that set up
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Net extraordinary revenues included €0.7

million in respect of the net capital gains on

equity investments and €1.0 million in other net

extraordinary revenues.

capital gains on equity investments regard

revenues from the disposal of equity

investments, appropriately reclassified to

underscore the extraordinary nature of this

income. they amounted to a considerable €2.0

million in 2013. despite their non-recurring

nature, they reflect the care devoted to targeted

disposals, as well as the generally high quality

of internal processes, from the assessment of

projects to the acquisition of equity

investments. writedowns of equity investments

were recognised in the amount of €1.3 million. 

extraordinary revenues also include the

positive impact on the income statement of

€0.5 million recognised under “gains on

financial transactions” associated with the

reduction in the provision for the fair value of

two financial instruments entered into in 2012.

Accordingly, after the provisions and gains and

losses reported above, profit before tax came to

€22.2 million, compared with €20.3 million in

2012, an increase of €1.9 million.

taxes for 2013 amounted to €8.9 million. As a

result, net profit amounted to €13.3 million

(€13.0 million in 2012). thus, the increase in the

volume of total net revenues and the

containment of operating costs led to the

achievement of substantial profitability growth

not only with respect to 2012 but also the

strongest performance since the establishment

of the company (1991), capping five years of

constant improvement.
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2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

ordinary operations

income from equity investments 24.4 20.4 18.1 16.9 14.7

Revenues from services 6.2 8.1 8.2 10.4 10.8

current revenue/expense (-)
in respect of liquid assets -1.8 -0.9 -0.4 -0.5 0.1

other operating revenue/expense (-) 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2

fees for administering financial 
support programmes 18.6 18.6 18.9 18.6 18.4

totAl Net ReVeNues 47.7 46.5 45.0 45.6 44.2

operating costs -21.4 -21.4 -21.4 -21.8 -21.4

Additional costs for external
professional services -0.6 -1.5 -1.2 -2.8 -3.3

diRect costs -22.0 -22.9 -22.6 -24.6 -24.7

oPeRAtiNg PRofit 25.7 23.6 22.4 21.0 19.5

Allocations to provisions for
general financial risks

-4,0 -3,7 -6,2 -8,8 -2,7

Allocations to provisions and writedowns 
for potential losses on receivables -0.8 -0.8 -0.5 -1.1 -0.6

Allocations to provisions for liabilities 
and contingencies and financial liabilities -0.4 -2.3 -0.5 -0.1 -0.1

AllocAtioNs to PRoVisioNs 
ANd Net wRitedowNs -5.2 -6.8 -7.2 -10.0 -3.4

capital gains (losses) on equity investments 0.7 2.5 3.3 5.1 0.5

extraordinary revenue/expense (-) 1.0 1.0 0.3 1.1 0.3

PRofit befoRe tAX 22.2 20.3 18.8 17.2 16.9

income taxes -8.9 -7.3 -6.6 -6.1 -6.4

Net PRofit foR the yeAR 13.3 13.0 12.2 11.1 10.5

ReclAssified iNcoMe stAteMeNt foR the lAst fiVe yeARs
(€ million)
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in accordance with Article 2364 of the civil

code and Article 12 of the bylaws, the board of

directors sets out its reasons in the Report on

operations for the decision to invoke the time

limit of 180 days (rather than the ordinary 120-

day limit) from the end of the fiscal year for the

annual meeting of shareholders. specifically, in

valuing the equity investments recognised in

the balance sheet and their profitability and

determining the amount of the provision for

risks, it is necessary to obtain up-to-date

information regarding the performance and

financial statements both of the issuers of the

guarantees to ensure that siMest recovers the

cost of its equity investments and of the foreign

companies that are its partners, so as to be

able to provide a true and fair view of its own

situation.

this need has been a feature of the closure of

siMest's financial statements since its

establishment in 1991.

significant post-period events include:

■ on 16 January 2014 siMest signed three

agreements with the Ministry of economic

development to extend the management

agreements for the Venture capital fund,

the law 295/1973 fund and the law

394/1981 fund until 31 March 2014 on the

same financial terms and conditions in

place at 31 december 2013; 

■ at its 6 february 2014 meeting, the board of

directors of siMest replaced its chairman,

Vincenzo Petrone, who resigned from the

board, with ferdinando Nelli feroci, who

was unanimously appointed a director and

chairman by the board at the direction of

the majority shareholder; 

■ the shareholders’ Meeting, meeting in

ordinary session on 12 March 2014,

approved these resolutions to appoint

ferdinando Nelli feroci as a director and

chairman of the company;

■ on 12 March 2014 the shareholders’

Meeting met in extraordinary session to

approve the addition of a clause (Article 16-

bis) to the company bylaws concerning

ineligibility for and forfeiture for cause of

the position of director, without entitlement

to damages, and the related professional

requirements and limits on the number of

other offices held. this clause conforms to

the directive laid down by the Ministry of the

economy and finance on 24 June 2013 and

to the previous determination made by the

Ministry of the economy and finance on 3

May 2005;

■ on 28 March 2014, siMest signed three

agreements with the Ministry of economic

development for the management of the

Venture capital fund, the law 295/1973

fund and the law 394/1981 fund; 

■ on 6 february 2014, Vincenzo Malitesta, the

head of cdP’s internal audit department,

was appointed to the supervisory body of

siMest;

■ on 14 and 15 April 2014, the annual

inspection for iso Quality certification

9001:2008 concerning the management of

all corporate activities was performed;

■ on 14 and 15 April 2014, the annual

inspection of the occupational health and

safety Management system under ohsAs

18001:2007 was performed.

Among the events that occurred following the

close of the period, on 30 January 2014 the

company submitted a request for a private

letter ruling pursuant to Article 11 of law 212 of

27 July 2000 to the Revenue Agency (lazio

70
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As regards the Venture capital fund, during

the first four months of 2014 the guidance and

oversight committee approved participation in

16 projects, of which 9 new investment projects

and 7 capital increases/project revisions, with a

total appropriation of €7.7 million. 

Also during this period, siMest, acting on

behalf of the Venture capital fund, subscribed

4 new equity investments (1 capital increase)

for a total of €1.8 million. 

As regards siMest’s management of financial

support facilities, during the first four months

of 2014 the support committee approved 96

new operations for the sum of €1,186.6 million,

reflecting the continued interest by italian

companies in the support instruments

managed by siMest.

for export credit transactions under the law

295/1973 fund, these figures confirm the

substantial stability of italian exports of capital

goods and plant, while for the subsidies under

the law 394/1981 fund, performance in terms

of the number and value of operations indicates

consistent operation, mainly attributable to

approvals for foreign market penetration

programmes, as the suspension of the

acceptance of new loan applications for the

capitalisation of exporter sMes continued.

Activity is detailed below:

- interest rate support for export credit: 36

transactions were approved for a total of

€1,131.5 million. of these transactions,

buyer credit operations ("stabilisation

intervention") amounted to €714.0 million

and supplier credit operations in the form of

fixed-rate discounting amounted to €417.5

million;

- support for investments in foreign

companies: 11 applications were approved

for a total of €20.5 million.

- foreign market penetration programmes:

territorial office) confirming that the corporate

income tax (iRes) surtax of 8.5%, due from

banks and insurance companies for 2013, does

not apply to siMest. Although the reasons set

out by siMest in the request suggest that the

ruling will likely be in its favour, in the unlikely

event that the request is not granted, the

amount of supplemental iRes owed would

amount to €2.056 million. in consideration of

the foregoing and in anticipation of a response

from the Revenue Agency (which will be issued

prior to the approval of the financial statements

by the shareholders’ Meeting), the company

has prudently designated said amount as not

distributable in its proposed allocation of the

net profit for 2013. 

in the first four months of 2014, the siMest

board of directors approved 22 new projects, of

which 18 new investment projects and 4 capital

increases/project revisions, involving a total

investment on the part of the companies of

€98.5 million, with a planned siMest

investment of €30.8 million. 

the geographical distribution of projects

approved essentially confirmed the traditional

pattern of interest in certain countries (china

with 4 projects, the usA with 3, india and the

Russian federation with 2 each) and the

emergence of new countries connected with

specific individual projects (Moldova, ethiopia,

Malaysia, Kosovo).

overall, 1 new project (for a siMest financial

commitment of €2.8 million) and 1 project

revision were approved in the eu area.

in the same period, siMest also acquired 6

equity investments (2 capital increases) for a

total of €9.8 million, of which 2 eu-area equity

investments (1 capital increase).

siMest is also in the process of acquiring 7

additional equity investments for €17.1 million.
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46 new subsidised loans were granted for a

total of about €34.4 million;

- prefeasibility and feasibility studies and

technical assistance programmes: 3 new

loans were approved for €0.2 million (for

feasibility studies).

PRoMotioNAl ANd
deVeloPMeNt ActiVity
■ internationalisation road show – the opening

event of the road show planned by the

steering committee for italian international

expansion was held in biella on 27 January,

with more than 300 companies participating.

the road show is sponsored by the Ministry

of foreign Affairs and is promoted and

supported by the Ministry of economic

development. confindustria, unioncamere,

Rete imprese italia and Alleanze delle

cooperative italiane took part in addition to

ice italian trade Promotion Agency, sAce

and siMest. siMest has participated in all

the stops made thus far (bari, Milan and

Ancona).

■ saudi Arabia (Riyadh) – confindustria, ice,

gse and siMest organised an institutional

and trade mission between 3 and 5 March,

sponsored by the Ministry of foreign Affairs

and the Ministry of economic development.

the mission focused on major infrastructure,

clean technologies and medical sectors,

areas that the saudi government has decided

to target to diversify the country’s economy.

■ Mexico (Mexico city) – confindustria, ice and

siMest organised an institutional and trade

mission between 31 March and 2 April,

sponsored by the Ministry of foreign Affairs

and the Ministry of economic development.

the mission, led by the deputy Minister of

economic development, was aimed at the

automotive, infrastructure, green

technologies and gas and oil sectors. it

presented a chance for companies to gain a

deeper understanding of the business

opportunities in Mexico and to encourage

italian investment in that country. 

■ Agreements with banks – in January

siMest and bNl renewed and expanded

the existing agreement and operations

currently covering the Mediterranean area

to encompass the world and to focus on

providing joint business scouting in italy in

order to identify and support the process of

international expansion by the most

qualified and competitive medium-sized

firms.
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emerging and mature economies, that present

the greatest business opportunities.

siMest will continue to be active in those

geographical areas where it has traditionally

assisted italian companies and has achieved

significant results, such as the bRic nations,

the NAftA area, the western balkans, and in

areas that offer significant opportunities for

italian firms (AseAN and a number of southern

African countries), in addition to countries

within the eu, where siMest has been

gradually developing its operations since 2011.

with regard to the united states, where the

policy to reindustrialise the country and

develop its infrastructure is under way, the

recent expansion in investment by italian

companies, particularly in greenfield projects

and acquisitions of firms active in local

markets, is expected to continue. furthermore,

direct industrial investment in that country

could also drive production in italy, thereby

promoting exports.

siMest strategic approach in italy in 2014 will

continue to be to identify qualified italian

industrial partners (specifically those that

display a better than average amount of

competitiveness for their sectors) with whom to

develop and support their overall growth and

the strengthening of their position in

international markets, including by acquiring

control of companies in eu countries and their

relative market shares.

the sectors most likely to be affected are those

that are expected to have the greatest investment

and profitability potential (engineering,

agriculture/food products, wood/furniture,

chemicals/pharmaceuticals, basic metals/steel),

taking account of natural resources and local

markets, as well as the classic specialisations of

italian companies, especially sMes.

the outlook for 2014 reflects the uncertainty

concerning the rates of growth in the global

economy and international trade. global gdP is

expected to rise by 3.6% in 2014. however,

economic and political uncertainties involving

various major countries and areas persist.

in 2014, the economy is expected to expand by

2.8% in the united states and by 1.4% in Japan,

compared with a more modest increase in the

euro area (+1.2%), although it too is expected to

improve. by contrast, the emerging economies

should continue to expand as they did in 2013,

with projected growth of 4.9%, despite the risks

associated with the volatility of exchange rates

for some of their currencies.

As to italy, the protracted decline in gdP

slowed in 2013 for an overall drop of 1.9%.

forecasts for 2014 point to a slight recovery

(+0.6% according to the most recent

international Monetary fund projections).

confindustria’s projections show that italian

potential demand will expand at a better pace

than in 2013 due to the recovery in global

demand and, especially, demand in europe,

which accounts for more than half of italian

foreign sales. given the expected slight

expansion in the italian economy, still largely

driven by exports, and in domestic demand,

particularly for consumption, which remains

weak, the outlook for small companies and

those that produce for the domestic market

continues to be fragile. by contrast, companies

that have expanded internationally or are more

focused on the export market have performed

positively in terms of both productivity and

results.

in 2014 siMest will continue to pursue actions

that support businesses in expanding into

international markets and in adjusting its

approach towards those countries, both
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in this scenario, the most competitive

enterprises (of which sMes constitute a

growing portion) are supported by siMest

through equity investment operations and

support instruments combined with effective

assistance.

therefore, in 2014 siMest expects to further

expand its activity, mainly in the business area.

the renewal of the agreement with the Ministry

of economic development completed on 28

March 2014 is essentially based on

reimbursement of management costs

accompanied by a significant reduction in

commissions and fees, which will have an

impact on profitability despite the policy of cost

containment.

for the boARd of diRectoRs

chief executive officer

(ing. Massimo d’Aiuto)
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the company's financial statements have

been prepared, as were those for the previous

year, in accordance with the provisions of

legislative decree 87 of 27 January 1992, the

regulations issued by the bank of italy in

circular no. 103 of 31 July 1992 and other

laws, interpreted and supplemented pursuant

to the recommendations of the Accounting

standards committee of the consiglio

Nazionale dei dottori commercialisti e degli

esperti contabili (National council of the

italian accounting profession).

consideration was also given to the need to

ensure that the financial statements provided

a true and fair view of the company’s assets

and liabilities, financial position and profit for

the year.

the annual report includes the following

documents:

■ the report on the company’s operations

and performance;

■ the balance sheet and the income

statement;

■ the notes to the financial statements,

comprising:

part A – accounting policies;

part b – information on the balance sheet;

part c – information on the income

statement;

part d – other information.

the balance sheet and the income statement

also show the figures for the previous year.

in addition, in order to provide fuller disclosure,

the usual supplementary schedules have also

been prepared, comprising the cash flow

statement and the statement of changes in

shareholders’ equity, which are presented in

the generally accepted formats recommended

by the consiglio Nazionale dei dottori

commercialisti e degli esperti contabili.

these schedules are contained in part d

(“other information”) and constitute an

integral part of the annual report.

Pursuant to Article 13 of legislative decree

39/2010, the shareholders’ Meeting of 5 July

2012 appointed Pricewaterhousecoopers

s.p.A. to perform the statutory audit of the

company’s financial statements until the

approval of the financial statements for 2014.

siMest’s finance operations are subject to

the oversight of the corte dei conti (state

Audit court) pursuant to Article 12 of law

259/1958.

fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31 deceMbeR 2013
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Assets 31/12/13 31/12/12 change

10. cash on hand 9,065 10,803 (1,738)

20. Receivables from banks: 30,044 9,452 20,592

(a) demand  30,044 9,452 20,592

(b) other – – –

40. Receivables from customers             33,931,168 32,317,254 1,613,914

50. bonds and other debt securities – – –

70, equity investments 459,047,212 396,189,206 62,858,006

90. intangible assets: 286,272 378,304 (92,032)

- start-up and expansion costs – – –

- other costs with long-term benefits 286,272 378,304 (92,032)

100. Property, plant and equipment 97,651 120,329 (22,678)

130. other assets 18,516,481 17,574,748 941,733

140. Accrued income and prepaid expenses: 231,178 278,544 (47,366)

(a) accrued income   3,092 3,155 (63)

(b) prepaid expenses  228,086 275,389 (47,303)

totAl Assets 512,149,071 446,878,640 65,270,431

fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31 deceMbeR 2013 
bAlANce sheet
(amounts in euros)
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liAbilities ANd shAReholdeRs' eQuity 31/12/13 31/12/12 change

10. Payables to banks              147,715,829 89,704,809 58,011,020

(a) demand                                             147,715,829 89,704,809 58,011,020

(b) other                           – – –

50. other liabilities                                37,258,432 40,305,376 (3,046,944)

60. Accrued expenses and deferred income – – –

(a) accrued expenses – – –

(b) deferred income  – – –

70. staff severance benefit 3,604,703 3,547,786 56,917

80. Provisions for liabilities and contingencies:  4,896,484 5,934,960 (1,038,476)

(b) provision for taxes and duties                 – 831,867 (831,867)

(c) other provisions                          4,896,484 5,103,093 (206,609)

90. Provision for potential losses on receivables                       5,414,809 5,114,809 300,000

100. Provision for general financial risks  59,836,728 55,836,728 4,000,000

120. share capital                        164,646,232 164,646,232 –

130. share premium account     1,735,551 1,735,551 –

140. Reserves: 73,719,842 67,049,374 6,670,468

(a) legal reserve                 20,700,397 20,050,246 650,151

(d) other reserves                  53,019,445 46,999,128 6,020,317

170. Net profit (loss) for the year           13,320,461 13,003,015 317,446

totAl shAReholdeRs' eQuity                  253,422,086 246,434,172 6,987,914

totAl liAbilities                        512,149,071 446,878,640 65,270,431

guarantees and commitments

10. guarantees                   – – –

20. commitments: 184,083,000 166,055,000 18,028,000

- equity investments in non-eu 

and eu companies                     184,083,000 166,055,000 18,028,000

totAl guARANtees ANd coMMitMeNts             184,083,000 166,055,000 18,028,000

fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31 deceMbeR 2013 
bAlANce sheet
(amounts in euros)
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eXPeNses 2013 2012 change

10. interest expense and similar charges    1,796,984 1,046,024 750,960

30. losses on financial transactions – 1,973,000 (1,973,000)

40. Administrative expenses 21,672,782 22,504,644 (831,862)

(a)  staff costs   13,934,160 13,617,446 316,714

- wages and salaries   10,080,895 9,780,478 300,417

- social security contributions      2,949,913 2,896,437 53,476

- staff severance benefit 592,258 615,828 (23,570)

- business travel      311,094 324,703 (13,609)

(b) other administrative expenses   7,738,622 8,887,198 (1,148,576)

50. Amortisation and depreciation 327,668 356,317 (28,649)

70. Allocations to provisions for liabilities and contingencies 360,000 375,000 (15,000)

80. Allocations to provisions for potential 

losses on receivables 300,000 300,000 –

90. writedowns of bad debts 1,072,358 996,590 75,768

100. writedowns of financial assets  1,317,487 451, 739 865,748

110. extraordinary expenses 57,944 5,640 52,304

120. increases for the provision for

general financial risks         4,000,000 3,700,000 300,000

130. income taxes for the year  8,876,387 7,313,076 1,563,311

totAl eXPeNses 39,781,610 39,022,030 759,580

140. Net profit for the year 13,320,461 13,003,015 317,446

fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31 deceMbeR 2013 
iNcoMe stAteMeNt
(amounts in euros)
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ReVeNues 2013 2012 change

10. interest income and similar revenues: 528,903 491,037 37,866

(a) on securities                                                 – – –

(b) on bank deposits                              5 17,763 (17,758)

(c) on other receivables                                  528,898 473,274 55,624

20. dividends and other revenues:

(b) on equity investments                24,418,168 20,405,291 4,012,877

25. Revenues for services    24,902,917 26,743,993 (1,841,076)

40. gains on financial transactions 530,331 29 530,302

50. writebacks of bad debts

and provisions for guarantees and commitments  5,776 150,577 (144,801)

70. other operating revenues 226,627 238,048 (11,421)

80. extraordinary income      2,489,349 3,996,070 (1,506,721)

totAl ReVeNues 53,102,071 52,025,045 1,077,026

fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31 deceMbeR 2013 
iNcoMe stAteMeNt
(amounts in euros)





Notes to the fiNANciAl stAteMeNts



the general accounting policies comply with

current civil code regulations and the

provisions of legislative decree 87 of 27

January 1992.

cash and cash equivalents
cash on hand are recognized at nominal value.

funds in foreign currencies are translated into

euros at the end of the year using the exchange

rate prevailing at the balance-sheet date.

Receivables and provisions 
for receivables
Receivables from banks regard balances on

bank current accounts recognized at nominal

value and the investment of liquidity for

treasury purposes in repurchase operations

involving the forward resale of the securities

issued in the transactions, in any. the carrying

amount is equal to the spot price.

for transactions maturing in the following

year, interest and revenues accrued between

the start of the operation (spot) and the

balance-sheet date are recognized under

accrued income. 

Receivables from customers are carried at

their estimated realisable value, adjusting their

nominal value on the basis of estimates of

losses expected as of the date the financial

statements are approved. the estimated

realisable value is calculated specifically for

individual positions, taking account of the

solvency of the debtor.

A prudent assessment of generic risk is also

performed, in determining the provision for

potential losses on receivables, in order to take

account of merely potential risk of losses on

receivables; the related provisions are not

intended to adjust the value of the receivables.

bonds and other debt securities
All of the debt securities held by the company

are classified as current assets and are

therefore recognized at market price. since the

securities are listed, market price is the

arithmetic mean of prices in the final month of

the year.

equity investments 
equity investments, including those listed on

regulated markets, are classified as non-

current assets and are recognized at purchase

or subscription cost, including incidental costs.

the cost value is written down in the event of

lasting impairment losses where the investee

has incurred losses that cannot be rectified in

the short term and there are no repurchase

commitments that would ensure recovery of

the cost of the investment, taking account of

any guarantees.

intangible assets and amortization
intangible assets are recognized at cost,

including any directly attributable incidental

expenses, less amortization, which is

calculated on the basis of the estimated future

utility of the assets.

Property, plant and equipment 
and depreciation
intangible assets are recognized at cost,

including any directly attributable incidental

expenses, less amortization, which is

calculated on the basis of the estimated useful

life of the assets.
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development for the management of the

financial support programmes as well as

provisions for charges whose amount or timing

are uncertain as of the balance-sheet date.

Provisions for general financial risks
Allocations are made to this provision for

prudential reasons to cover general business

risk. Accordingly, the provision can be treated

as an equity reserve.

commitments
commitments in respect of equity investments

in foreign companies are recognized in the

amount of the equity interest the company

intends to acquire. Repurchase transactions

are recognized at the forward price agreed with

the counterparty. 

foreign currency transactions
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currencies, if any, are translated at the spot

exchange rate prevailing on the balance-sheet

date, with the exception of equity investments,

which are carried at purchase or subscription

cost in the presence of commitments to

repurchase the interest that ensure the

recovery of the cost of the investment.

expenses and revenues
these are recognized on an accrual basis.

other assets
other assets are recognized at their estimated

realisable value.

Accruals and deferrals
these items are calculated on an accruals

basis.

Payables to banks 
these refer to current bank account overdrafts

for covering cash flow requirements in respect

of equity investments. the carrying amount is

equal to the nominal value.

other liabilities
other liabilities are recognized at nominal

value. this item also includes financial

liabilities held for trading at fair value.

staff severance benefit
the liability is calculated on the basis of the

provisions of Article 2120 of the civil code and

current national collective bargaining

agreements.

Provisions for liabilities 
and contingencies
these include provisions for income taxes

accrued for the year, provisions for the charge

in relation to the mechanism provided for in the

agreements with the Ministry of economic
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the following section comments the content of the balance sheet accounts and the most

significant changes with respect to the previous year.

Assets

At                              chANge

iteM 10 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

cash on hand 9 11 (2)

this item reports cash on hand at 31 december in euros and foreign currencies.

At                              chANge

iteM 20 (a) 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Receivables from banks: repayable on demand 30 9 21

this item reports balances on bank deposits at 31 december 2013 and includes interest income

credited by the banks. 

At                              chANge

iteM 40 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Receivables from customers 33,931 32,317 1,614

bReAKdowN of ReceiVAbles At estiMAted ReAlisAble VAlue:

iteMs At 31.12.2013 At 31.12.2012

• receivables in respect of equity investments 17,625 15,167

• receivables for contributions financed by dividends  2,035 1,996

• receivables for fees for management of public funds 

under agreements with the Ministry of  economic development 13,579 14,712

• other receivables 692 442

33,931 32,317
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bReAKdowN by AVeRAge MAtuRity of ReceiVAbles:

ResiduAl PeRiod (NoMiNAl VAlues) At 31.12.2013 At 31.12.2012

• up to 3 months 9,282 10,416

• from more than 3 months up to 1 year 18,889 16,415

• unspecified (1) 9,732 8,391

• less writedowns (net of revaluations) (3,972) (2,905)

Value of receivables recognized 33,931 32,317

of total writedowns (€3,972 thousand), €1,072 thousand were recognized in 2013.

writeoffs of fully written-down receivables at 31 december 2013 totalled €1,285 thousand.

(1) breakdown of receivables with "unspecified maturity": (nominal values)

•  past due receivables  9,732 8,391

of which

– receivables from the Ministry of economic development 4,296 4,296

– receivables in respect of bankruptcy proceedings or bad debts 4,972 3,803

– receivables for default interest 464 292

Receivables from the Ministry of the economic development are reported gross of the allocation

to the provision for liabilities and contingencies in the amount of €4,296 thousand for the

mechanism in the agreements with the Ministry of the management of financial support

programmes.

Pursuant to Article 2427 of the civil code, the company reports that there are no receivables or

payables with a residual maturity of more than five years; All receivables and payables are with

counterparties in italy, with the exception of a receivable of €317 thousand in respect of a

Venezuelan counterparty for fees relating to equity investments.  

At                              chANge

iteM 70 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

equity investments

• in non-eu companies 379,395 349,702 29,693

• in eu companies 74,488 41,323 33,165

• in italian companies 5,164 5,164 –

459,047 396,189 62,858
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the equity investments shown on the balance sheet are recognized in one of two ways:

- at purchase or subscription cost (book value). the book value is not written down, even if

greater than fair value, since recovery of that amount is guaranteed by commitments to

repurchase the investment, which may be secured by guarantees, including bank and/or

insurance guarantees;

- at market value as calculated using generally accepted valuation techniques. the market value

of the asset is in fact recognized only in the event of lasting impairment losses that cannot be

rectified in the short term and the absence of commitments ensuring recovery of the cost (book

value) of the investment.  Market value is measured either on the basis of the objective criterion

of the equity value of the investment or an obligatory appraisal in the event of a compulsory sale

of the investment.

using this criteria, in 2013, in the face of impairments in value, writedowns of equity investments

were recognized in the total amount of €1,317 thousand.

At 31 december 2013, the overall value of equity investments reported under assets regarded 255

non-eu and eu companies with a cost of €453,883 thousand, of which €435,895 thousand paid up,

and the equity investment in fiNest s.p.A. of Pordenone subscribed pursuant to law 19/1991 in

the amount of €5,164 thousand.

coMPositioN ANd chANges iN the yeAR:

2013 2012

iteMs No. AMouNt No. AMouNt 

equity investments at the start of the year 247 391,025 256 338,641

increases of which: 36 88,565 31 88,322

• acquisition of new equity investments 36 77,414 31 77,360

•  increase in equity interest 5 11,151 9 10,962

decreases of which: (28) 25,740 (40) 35,960

•  sales of equity investment to partner (total) (22) 19,564 (31) 30,845

•  sales and transfers of share of equity investment (6) 6,176 (9) 5,115

writedowns/increased (reduced) commitments 

due to exchange rate differences
33 22

Net change in the year (8) 62,858 (9) 52,384

equity investments at the end of the year 255 453,883 247 391,025

At 31 december 2013, the commitments of italian partners for the purchase and forward payment

of shares of equity investments subscribed and paid up by siMest were secured in the total

amount of €231,688 thousand by third-party guarantees. 

the breakdown of equity investments acquired in 2013 is reported in the report on operations in

the table “equity investments in foreign companies”.
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At                              chANge

iteM 90 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

intangible assets 286 378 (92)

coMPositioN ANd chANges iN the yeAR:

iteMs oPeNiNg PuRchAses AMoRtiZAtioN closiNg

bAlANce bAlANce 

other costs with long-term utility 378 186 (278) 286

total 378 186 (278) 286

other costs with long-term utility include expenditure for the purchase of software. the item

includes expenses for updating it procedures used to manage company operations. it also

includes the costs incurred to define a multi-year business development plan.

software costs and the costs incurred in respect of the business development plan are amortised

on a straight-line basis over three years.

At                              chANge

iteM 100 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Property, plant and equipment 98 120 (22)

coMPositioN ANd chANges iN the yeAR:

iteMs oPeNiNg PuRchAses disPosAls dePReciAtioN closiNg

bAlANce bAlANce  

electromechanical    
and electronic plant 66 18 - (38) 46

and machinery

commercial equipment 54 10 - (12) 52

other assets - - - --

total 120 28 - (50) 98

depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis in relation to the use of the assets and their

residual useful lives.

Purchases during the year mainly regard hardware for the information system.

At                              chANge

iteM 130 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

other assets 18,516 17,575 941
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bReAKdowN of the iteM:

iteMs 2013 2012

• Receivables in respect of transfer of equity investments 9,458 10,095

• loans to employees 4,185 3,371

• deposits and advances for supplies and business travel 1,184 1,217

• Receivables for tax advances 790 13

• Receivables in respect of the request for the 
reimbursement of iRAP (regional tax on business activities) 511 511

• Receivables for prepaid iRes (corporate income tax) 2,131 2,110

• Receivables for prepaid iRAP 257 258

“Receivables in respect of transfer of equity investments” regard receivables from partners for

transfers of equity investments in the process of being completed.

“loans to employees” comprises €3,744 thousand in mortgage loans to customers for which the

residual maturity of more than 5 years amounts to €2,141 thousand.

“Receivables in respect of the request for the reimbursement of iRAP” refers to the receivable for

the allowance of the deductibility of iRAP pertaining to labour costs for the years from 2007 to 2011. 

the composition of “receivables for prepaid iRes and iRAP” is described under “taxes” in the

income statement.

At                              chANge

iteM 140 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Accrued income and prepaid expenses

(a)  accrued income 3 4 (1)

(b)  prepaid expenses 228 275 (47)

231 279 (48)

Prepaid expenses regard operating costs accruing in the following year.

coMPositioN of AccRued iNcoMe

iteM 140 (a) At 31.12.2013 At 31.12.2012

other 3 4

3 4

coMPositioN ANd chANges iN the yeAR:

2013 2012

Accrued income at start of the year 4 6

changes in the year:

•  collection of interest on security deposits accruing in previous years (4) (6)

•  collection of interest on investments of 

liquidity accruing in previous years  

•  interest on security deposits accruing in the year 3 4

Accrued income at end of the year 3 4
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liAbilities ANd shAReholdeRs' eQuity

At                              chANge

iteM 10 (a) 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Payables to banks repayable on demand 147,716 89,705 58,011

this item refers to current account overdrafts at the end of the year, mainly used for covering

cash flow requirements in respect of equity investments. the carrying amount is equal to the

nominal value and includes accrued fees.

At                              chANge

iteM 50 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

other liabilities 37,258 40,305 (3,047)

coMPositioN:

At 31.12.2013 At 31.12.2012

• creditors for equity investments to be paid 1,073 6,105

• payables to suppliers and employees 3,662 3,740

• advances received for disposal of equity investments 27,367 25,042

• eu financial support for foreign company projects 
to be transferred to beneficiary companies 43 43

• social security contributions 1,082 1,026

• withholding tax for employees and self-employed 
workers and VAt 370 471

• dividends to shareholders 2,076 1,835

• financial liabilities held for trading 1,443 1,973

• other payables 142 70

37,258 40,305

At                              chANge

iteM 70 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

staff severance benefit 3,604 3,547 57

the item represents the severance liability with respect to employees in service at the end of the

year, under the terms of current national collective bargaining agreements and the changes to

social security regulations introduced as from 2007. changes regarded allocations for the period

of €592 thousand, less benefits paid to employees who left service, contributions paid on behalf

of employees to the supplemental pension fund pursuant to law 297/1982 and benefits

transferred pursuant to legislative decree 124/1993, as amended, totalling €535 thousand.
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Pursuant to the provisions of the 2007 finance Act and the related implementing rules and

circulars, contributions for severance benefits accruing as from 1 January 2007 are paid into

supplementary pension schemes. As a result, the liability to employees in respect of severance

benefits does not increase.

At                              chANge

iteM 80 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Provisions for liabilities and contingencies 4,896 5,935 (1,039)

this includes:

(b) provision for taxes and duties, of which: - 832 (832)

- current taxes - 832 (832)

- deferred taxes - - -

(c) other provisions 4,896 5,103 (207)

"other provisions” includes €4,296 thousand in allocations for the potential total charge

associated with the mechanism provided for in the agreements with the Ministry of economic

development for the management of the financial support programme and €600 thousand in

allocation for potential charges that the company could incur.

At                              chANge

iteM 90 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Provision for potential losses on receivables 5,415 5,115 300

the provision for potential losses on receivables was raised to €5,415 thousand in 2013 as a

result of the allocation of €300 thousand. the provision is intended to cover potential future

losses on receivables due to insolvency or uncollectibility.

At                              chANge

iteM 100 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Provision for general financial risks 59,837 55,837 4,000

the provision was increased by €4,000 thousand in 2013 to cover general business risk. it can be

considered an equity reserve. the adjustment was made to protect the company against the

potential risks associated with its business activities, taking account of the impact of the actions

taken by siMest to face any financial risks connected with the current international economic

and political environment.    

At                              chANge

iteM 120 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

share capital 164,646 164,646 -
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At 31 december 2013, share capital amounted to €164,646 thousand, fully subscribed and paid

up. it is represented by 316,627,369 shares with a par value of €0.52 each.

At                              chANge

iteM 130 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

share premium account 1,736 1,736 -

the share premium account regarded a total of 22,403,298 shares.

At                              chANge

iteM 140 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Reserves of which: 73,719 67,049 6,670

(a) legal reserve 20,700 20,050 650

(b) other reserves  of which: 53,019 46,999 6,020

 •  pursuant to Article 88.4 of Presidential decree 917/86 5,165 5,165 -

 •  extraordinary reserve    47,854 41,834 6,020

the legal reserve increased by €650 thousand, corresponding to 5% of net profit for 2012

pursuant to the resolution of the shareholders' Meeting of 20 June 2013.

the reserve pursuant to Article 88.4 of Presidential decree 917/1986 regards the capital

contribution received from the Ministry of economic development to subscribe the equity

investment in fiNest s.p.A. of Pordenone, as established by law 19 of 9 January 1991.

the extraordinary reserve increased by €6,020 thousand following the allocation of part of net

profit for 2012.

At                              chANge

iteM 170 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

Net profit for the year 13,320 13,003 317

during 2013 the shareholders were paid dividends totalling €6,333 thousand. the remainder of

the profit for 2012 in the amount of €6,670 thousand was allocated to reserves as reported

above.

At 31 december 2013 shareholders' equity totalled €253,422 thousand, an increase of €6,988

thousand on the previous year due to net profit for 2013, less dividends paid.
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Pursuant to the accounting standards governing shareholders’ equity, the following additional

information is provided:

Reserves or other provisions that in the event of their distribution do not form part of the

company’s taxable income, regardless of the period over which they were established:

(amounts in thousands of euros)

ReseRVes VAlue

share premium account 1,736

Reserve pursuant to Article 88.4 of Presidential decree  917/1986 5,165

extraordinary reserve 47,854

total 54,755

the following schedule details shareholders’ equity:

(amounts in euros)

Amount Possible  Amount uses in the  uses in the  
uses (*) available last three years  last three years

to cover losses for other 
reasons

share capital 164,646,232 b 164,646,232 - -

share premium account 1,735,551 A, b, c (**) 1,735,551 - -

legal reserve 20,700,397 b 20,700,397 - -

Reserve pursuant to Article 88.4
of Presidential decree  917/86 5,164,569 A, b, c 5,164,569 - -

extraordinary reserve 47,854,876 A, b, c 47,854,876 - -

total 240,101,625 240,101,625 - -

(*)   A: for capital increase; b: for coverage of losses; c: for distribution to shareholders

(**) the distribution of the share premium account is subject to the legal reserve reaching an amount equal

to 20% of share capital
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guarantees and commitments

At                              chANge

iteM 10 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

guarantees

- issued for promotional projects – – –

At 31 december 2013 siMest had issued no guarantees in favour of third parties.

At                              chANge

iteM 20 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 2013—2012

commitments of which: 184,083 166,055 18,028

equity investments in non-eu and eu companies 184,083 166,055 18,028

the item comprises commitments to purchase equity interests in non-eu and eu companies.

coMPositioN ANd chANges iN the yeAR:

iteM

commitments to purchase equity interests in foreign companies 
at 31 december 2012 166,055

operations in 2013:

+  commitments approved for equity investments in non-eu and eu companies 138,956

-  commitments implemented with acquisition of equity investments 88,564

-  excess commitments for equity investments acquired 
and cancellation of projects 32,364

=  commitments to purchase equity interests in foreign companies 
at 31 december 2013 184,083
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eXPeNses

iteM 10 2013 2012 chANge

interest expense and similar charges 1,797 1,046 751

the item reports interest expense (€1,169 thousand) accrued on bank current account

overdrafts and differences accrued on financial instruments held for trading (€628 thousand)

opened, with a view to matching funding and lending, to meet cash flow requirements in respect

of equity investments.

iteM 30 2013 2012 chANge

losses on financial transactions - 1,973 (1,973)

As discussed in the report on operations, the item for 2012 refers to the period-end

measurement of the fair value of two financial instruments held for trading obtained to ensure

greater matching of funding and lending, taking account of the need to achieve financial balance

in the cycle of acquiring and disposing of equity investments. 

iteM 40 2013 2012 chANge

Administrative expenses 21,673 22,504 (831)

includes staff costs: 

iteM 40 (a) 2013 2012 chANge

• wages and salaries 10,081 9,780 301

• social security contributions 2,950 2,896 54

• staff severance benefit 592 616 (24)

• business travel 311 325 (14)

13,934 13,617 317
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otheR AdMiNistRAtiVe eXPeNses:

iteM 40 (b) 2013 2012 chANge

• operating costs 4,075 4,021 54

• taxes and duties and non-deductible VAt 982 1,208 (226)

• insurance and other staff expenses 860 869 (9)

• fees and expenses for corporate bodies 610 727 (117)

• fees and expenses for statutory auditing of the accounts 113 33 80

subtotal 6,640 6,858 (218)

• fees and expenses for outsourced professional service  601 673 (72)

7,241 7,531 (290)

and external costs incurred for programmes:

programmes on behalf of the Ministry of economic development 498 1,356 (858)

totAl otheR AdMiNistRAtiVe eXPeNses 7,739 8,887 (1,148)

iteM 50 2013 2012 chANge

Amortisation and depreciation 328 356 (28)

includes the amortisation and depreciation detailed in “Property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets” under assets on the balance sheet.

iteM 70 2013 2012 chANge

Allocations to provisions for liabilities and contingencies 360 375  (15)

An allocation was made to the provisions for liabilities and contingencies to cover any possible

charges that the company may incur in the future.

iteM 80 2013 2012 chANge

Allocations to provision for potential losses on receivables 300 300 -

it was found necessary to adjust the provision to cover the potential risk of insolvency or

uncollectibility.

iteM 90 2013 2012 chANge

writedowns of bad debts 1,072 997 75

this mainly comprises the writedowns reported under item 40 of assets on the balance sheet.

N
otes to th

e fiN
AN

ciAl stAteM
eN

ts

95



iteM 100 2013 2012 chANge

writedowns of financial assets 1,317 452 865

this item refers to the writedowns of the interests in the equity investments held by the company

performed during the year in accordance with the applicable valuation polices.

iteM 110 2013 2012 chANge

extraordinary expenses 58 6 52

this item contains the expenses with respect to out-of-period expenses recognised during the
year.

iteM 120 2013 2012 chANge

increases in the provision for general financial risks 4,000 3,700 300

the allocation reflects the need to cover potential general business risks in respect of both the

generic risk of losses on equity investments and the generic risk borne by siMest as manager

of the financial support funds under laws 295/1973 and 394/1981 and the Venture capital fund.    

iteM 130 2013 2012 chANge

income taxes for the year: 8,876 7,313 1,563

(+) current taxes, of which: 8,896 7,429 1,467

iRes 6,653 5,448 1,205

iRAP 2,243 1,981 262

(+)  deferred tax liabilities, of which: - - -

iRes - - -

iRAP - - -

(-) deferred tax assets, of which: 20 116 (96)

iRes 21 116 (95)

iRAP (1) - (1)

in 2013 allocations for current and deferred tax liabilities amounted to €6,632 thousand in

respect of iRes and €2,242 thousand in respect of iRAP.

for deferred tax items, on the basis of the calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31

december 2013, a receivable of €2,388 thousand was recognised.
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the following table details the calculation of deferred tax items:

RecogNitioN of defeRRed tAX liAbilities ANd Assets
(amounts in euros)

2013 2012

Amount of   tax tax Amount of tax tax 
temporary rate effect temporary rate effect

differences % differences %

deferred tax assets:

• employee bonuses and renewal of 1,326,296 27.50 364,731 1,300,296 27.50 337,581
collective bargaining agreement

• iNPs contributions on employee
bonuses and renewal of  319,098 33.07 105,526 337,034 33.07 111,457

collective bargaining agreement 

• Provision for indemnity for  
management of financial 4,131,655 33.07 1,366,338 4,131,655 33.07 1,366,338

support programmes 

• Provision for interest on indemnity 
for management of financial 164,839 33.07 54,512 164,839 33.07 54,512

support programmes

• Provision for fees and expenses  
86,969 27.50 23,916 96,969 27.50 26,667

accruing in other financial years

• Provision for sundry liabilities 130,000 27.50 35,750 566,600 27.50 155,816

• writedowns of bad debts 1,589,700 27.50 437,168 1,075,205 27.50 295,681

totAl 7,748,557 2,387,941 7,672,598 2,368,052

deferred tax liabilities (decrease): - - - - - -

totAl - - - -

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)
2,387,941 2,368,052

of which:

iRes 2,130,853 2,109,964

iRAP 257,088 258,088

in accordance with the principle of prudence, deferred tax assets in respect of allocations to the

provision for general financial risks and the provision for potential losses on receivables are not

recognised since, partly in view of the nature of the items, which can be treated as equity reserves,

it is not reasonably certain that such items would be reversed. 
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ReVeNues

iteM 10 2013 2012 chANge

interest income and similar revenues of which: 529 491 38

(a) on securities - - -

(b) on bank deposits - 18 (18)

(c) on other receivables 529 473 56

coMPositioN of iNteRest iNcoMe ANd siMilAR ReVeNues oN otheR ReceiVAbles:

2013 2012 chANge

other interest income and revenues on receivables 529 473 56

529 473 56

iteM 20 2013 2012 chANge

dividends and other revenues

(b) on equity investments 24,418 20,405 4,013

this item comprises fees received for technical assistance provided to partner companies in the

amount of €24,302 thousand (€20,290 thousand in 2012), dividends of €116 thousand (€115

thousand in 2012) net of €997 thousand in dividends transferred to partners in performance of

contractual obligations.

iteM 25 2013 2012 chANge

Revenues for services of which: 24,903 26,744 (1,841)

•  fees for administering financial support programmes 18,645 18,645 -

•  revenues for cost defrayment fees and professional services 6,258 8,099 (1,841)

coMPositioN:

2013 2012 chANge

•  fees for administering financial support programmes 

provided for in laws 295/1973 and 394/1981 under  18,645 18,645 -

agreements with the Ministry of economic development

•  fees for administering the Venture capital fund 
5,216 5,776 (560)and the start-up fund

•  cost defrayment payments for costs of Ministry  
797 2.188 (1,391)of economic development programmes  

•  fees for technical assistance to companies for foreign projects 245 135 110

24,903 26,744 (1,841)
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fees for the administration of financial support programmes in 2013 came to €18,049 thousand

for law 295/1973 and €5,538 thousand for law 394/1981 programmes. for both funds, the

company reports the maximum amount of €18,645 thousand provided for in the agreement with

the Ministry for economic development for the administration of the funds.

iteM 40 2013 2012 chANge

gains on financial transactions 530 - 530

this item refers to the period-end measurement of the fair value of two financial instruments

held for trading obtained to ensure greater matching of funding and lending, taking account of

the need to achieve financial balance in the cycle of acquiring and disposing of equity

investments.

iteM 50 2013 2012 chANge

writebacks of bad debts and provisions  

for guarantees and commitments 6 151 (145)

iteM 70 2013 2012 chANge

other operating revenues 227 238 (11)

this mainly includes the payments to defray costs for services associated with the

administration of financial support programmes and the Venture capital fund and the

reimbursement of business travel to investee companies.

iteM 80 2013 2012 chANge

extraordinary income 2,489 3,996 (1,507)

extraordinary income regards gains on the sale of equity investments in companies in the

amount of €2,017 thousand (€2,961 thousand in 2012) and out-of-period revenues of €472

thousand (€1,035 thousand in 2012).  
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1. eMPloyees

At 31 december 2013 the company had 157 employees, of which 10 senior managers, 78 middle

managers and 69 office employees. in 2013, the average payroll was 146.9 employees.

employees at change in employees at

31.12.2012 2013 31.12.2013

terminations hires Promotions

senior managers 10 10

Middle managers 76 -1 +1 +2 78

other employees 70 -1 +2 -2 69

totAl 156 -2 +3 - 157

Promotions are reported as the net change in the categories.

2. coMPeNsAtioN of boARd of diRectoRs ANd boARd of AuditoRs

in 2013 compensation and attendance fees paid to members of the boards of directors and

auditors amounted to €501,889, broken down as follows

– €424,993 to directors;

– €76,896 to auditors.

siMest spA    Annual Report 2013

100

PARt d. otheR iNfoRMAtioN 



N
otes to th

e fiN
AN

ciAl stAteM
eN

ts

101

2013 2012

i. cash and cash equivalents - opening balance     (89,685) (49,420)

liquidity generated by operations

Net profit                                       13,320 13,003

Amortisation and depreciation for the year 327 356

change in provisions for liabilities and contingencies/staff severance benefit 3,319 4,313

(a)                                                                      16,966 17,672

change in working capital

Receivables, accrued income and prepaid expenses (2,507) (480)

Payables and accrued expenses (3,046) 1,761

(b)                                                                     (5,553) 1,281

outflows for investments

capital goods                                                            214 501

equity investments acquired 88,598 88,322

dividends                                                  6,333 6,333

(c)                                                                      95,145 95,156

inflows for investments

equity investments sold  25,740 35,938

(d)                                                                      25,740 35,938

ii. change in cash and cash equivalents = (a + b - c + d)               (57,992) (40,265)

iii. cash and cash equivalents/(financial debt) - closing balance  = ( i + ii ) (147,677) (89,685)

3. cAsh flow stAteMeNt foR 2013 with coMPARAtiVe figuRes foR 2012

thousands of euros
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share share premium legal other reserves Net profit total
capital account reserve Art. 88, Para. 4 extraordinary for the year

Pres dec. 917/86 reserve

shareholders' equity at 31.12.2011 164,646 1,736 19,441 5,165 36,591 12,186 239,765

Allocation of net profit for 2011 609 5,243 (5,852) -

dividends   (6,334) (6,334)

Net profit for 2012 13,003 13,003

shareholders' equity at 31.12.2012 164,646 1,736 20,050 5,165 41,834 13,003 246,434

Allocation of net profit for 2012   650 6,020 (6,670) -

dividends  (6,333) (6,333)

Net profit for 2013 13,321 13,321

shareholders' equity at 31.12.2013 164,646 1,736 20,700 5,165 47,854 13,321 253,422

4. stAteMeNt of chANges iN shAReholdeRs' eQuity iN the yeARs eNdiNg 
At 31 deceMbeR 2013 ANd 2012

(thousands of euros)
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5. highlights of the coMPANy thAt eXeRcises MANAgeMeNt 
ANd cooRdiNAtioN  

in accordance with Article 2497-bis, paragraph 4, of the italian civil code, the following tables

contain highlights from the most recent financial statements of the parent company, cassa

depositi e Prestiti società per azioni. 

Assets 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. cash and cash equivalents 4,061 2,237

20. financial assets held for trading 640,480,778 581,080,782

40. financial assets available for sale 4,975,191,408 2,714,382,743

of which securing covered bonds - 200,479,303

50. financial assets held to maturity 16,730,803,183 9,289,252,925

60. loans to banks 13,178,302,664 19,404,824,607

of which securing covered bonds 575,161,865 5,138,958,155

70. loans to customers 238,305,758,261 220,537,662,851

of which securing covered bonds 2,102,395,438 -

80. hedging derivatives 371,592,827 359,793,786

100. equity investments 30,267,806,038 19,641,548,187

110. Property, plant and equipment 206,844,583 199,727,962

120. intangible assets 7,142,943 4,574,652

130. tax assets 508,263,385 617,523,230

a) current 359,110,010 399,759,826

b) deferred 149,153,375 217,763,404

150. other assets 239,289,471 235,665,166

totAl Assets 305,431,479,602 273,586,039,128

bAlANce sheet (euros)

cassa depositi e prestiti società per azioni
Registered office in Rome, Via goito no. 4, tax id no. 80199230584
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liAbilities ANd eQuity 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. due to banks 34,055,028,612 19,415,892,384

20. due to customers 242,303,149,301 227,042,396,990

30. securities issued 6,672,411,389 8,512,364,699

of which covered bonds 2,639,474,757 5,307,748,156

40. financial liabilities held for trading 477,087,678 471,815,234

60. hedging derivatives 2,575,862,638 2,621,250,529

70. Adjustment of financial liabilities 
hedged generically (+/-) 56,412,601 60,440,182

80. tax liabilities 915,731,204 443,585,327

a) current 818,196,453 356,236,426

b) deferred 97,534,751 87,348,901

100. other liabilities 1,527,970,453 538,517,108

110. staff severance pay 750,996 732,560

120. Provisions 11,789,925 9,681,415

b) other provisions 11,789,925 9,681,415

130. Valuation reserves 965,418,317 1,081,113,568

160. Reserves 9,517,249,132 8,276,343,556

180. share capital 3,500,000,000 3,500,000,000

200. Net income for the period (+/-) 2,852,617,356 1,611,905,576

totAl liAbilities ANd eQuity 305,431,479,602 273,586,039,128

bAlANce sheet (euros)

cassa depositi e prestiti società per azioni
Registered office in Rome, Via goito no. 4, tax id no. 80199230584
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iteMs   31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. interest income and similar revenues 10,590,682,908 7,737,829,670

20. interest expense and similar charges (7,068,867,902) (5,408,988,524)

30, Net interest income 3,521,815,006 2,328,841,146

40. commission income 38,348,222 15,704,980

50. commission expense (1,650,123,072) (1,504,737,356)

60. Net commission income (1,611,774,850) (1,489,032,376)

70. dividends and similar revenues 1,206,749,144 1,229,134,522

80. Net gain (loss) on trading activities 156,407,006 (17,238,205)

90. Net gain (loss) on hedging activities (10,120,204) (27,825,910)

100. gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: 389,563,961 6,425,648

a) loans 19,469,378 6,074,385

b) financial assets available for sale 366,189,473 345,580

c) financial assets held to maturity 145,310 5,683

d) financial liabilities 3,759,800 -   

120. gross income 3,652,640,063 2,030,304,825

130. Net impairment adjustments of: (22,884,956) (10,188,369)

a) loans (22,097,331) (7,565,679)

d) other financial transactions (787,625) (2,622,690)

140. financial income (expense), net 3,629,755,107 2,020,116,456

150. Administrative expenses: (103,285,487) (85,168,357)

a) staff costs (54,205,757) (50,780,722)

b) other administrative expenses (49,079,730) (34,387,635)

160. Net provisions (2,058,191) (350,298)

170. Net adjustments of property, plant and equipment (5,225,787) (5,677,509)

180. Net adjustments of intangible assets (2,464,066) (2,210,473)

190. other operating income (costs) 3,504,759 3,730,374

200. operating costs (109,528,772) (89,676,263)

210. gains (losses) on equity investments 147,334,875 (13,861,048)

240. gains (losses) on the disposal of investments (107,901) -   

250. income (loss) before tax from continuing operations 3,667,453,309 1,916,579,145

260. income tax for the period on continuing operations (814,835,953) (304,673,569)

270. income (loss) after tax on continuing operations 2,852,617,356 1,611,905,576

290. income (loss) for the period 2,852,617,356 1,611,905,576

iNcoMe stAteMeNt (euros)

cassa depositi e prestiti società per azioni
Registered office in Rome, Via goito no. 4, tax id no. 80199230584



siMest spA    Annual Report 2013

106

stAteMeNt of chANges iN eQuity (euros)

stAteMeNt of chANges iN eQuity (euros)

cassa depositi e prestiti società per azioni
Registered office in Rome, Via goito no. 4, tax id no. 80199230584
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A. oPeRAtiNg ActiVities   31/12/2012 31/12/2011

1. operations (1,268,664,051) 4,407,689,471 

- net income for the year (+/-) 2,852,617,356 1,611,905,576 

- gains (losses) on financial assets held for trading 
(137,571,535) 8,996,389and on financial assets/liabilities at fair value (-/+)    

- gains (losses) on hedging activities (-/+) (200,183,695) (189,561,628) 

- net impairment adjustments (+/-) 22,884,956 10,188,369 

- net value adjustments to property, plant and
7,689,853 7,887,982equipment and intangible assets (+/-)

- net provisions and other costs/revenues (+/-) 7,428,900 7,050,418

- unpaid taxes and duties (+) 814,835,953 304,673,569 

- net impairment adjustments of disposal -  -  
groups held for sale net of tax effect (+/-)

- writedowns/writebacks of equity investments (+/-) -  13,861,048 

- other adjustments (+/-) (4,636,365,839) 2,632,687,748 

2. cash generated by/used in financial assets (1,358,378,980) (14,525,818,442) 

- financial assets held for trading 78,171,539 266,360,752 

- financial assets at fair value -  -  

- financial assets available for sale (2,030,319,043) (669,973,585) 

- loans to banks: on demand -  -  

- loans to banks: other 6,948,868,710 (10,121,091,617) 

- loans to customers (6,374,480,471) (4,060,860,800) 

- other assets 19,380,285 59,746,809 

3.  cash generated by/used in financial liabilities 34,558,471,140 18,405,402,883 

- due to banks: on demand -  -  

- due to banks: other 14,456,286,818 11,561,064,716 

- due to customers 20,235,839,912 7,427,749,672 

- securities issued (1,720,450,110) 795,615,500 

- financial liabilities held for trading 5,272,444 (468,218,474) 

- financial liabilities at fair value -  -  

- other liabilities 1,581,522,076 (910,808,531) 

cash generated by/used in operating activities 31,931,428,109 8,287,273,912 

cAsh flow stAteMeNt (iNdiRect Method) (euros)

cassa depositi e prestiti società per azioni
Registered office in Rome, Via goito no. 4, tax id no. 80199230584



the financial highlights of the parent company, cassa depositi e Prestiti s.p.A., shown in the

statement required by Article 2497-bis of the italian civil code, are drawn from the financial

statements for the year ended 31 december 2012. for a more thorough discussion of the income

statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement of cassa depositi e Prestiti s.p.A. at 31

december 2012, please refer to that company’s financial statements, which, along with the

auditor’s report, are available as prescribed by law. 
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b. iNVestiNg ActiVities  31/12/2012 31/12/2011

1. cash generated by 24,715,175,635 259,988,457 

• sale of equity investments 2,034,309,999 -  

• dividends from equity investments -  -  

• sale of financial instruments held to maturity 22,680,756,000 259,988,457 

• sale of property, plant and equipment 109,636 -  

2. cash used in (42,581,105,251) (7,589,857,643) 

• purchase of equity investments (12,660,567,850) (1,072,800,000) 

• purchase of financial assets held to maturity (29,903,053,001) (6,509,653,862) 

• purchase of property, plant and equipment  (12,452,043) (5,592,908) 

• purchase of intangible assets  (5,032,357) (1,810,872) 

cash generated by/used in investing activities (17,865,929,616) (7,329,869,186) 

c. fiNANciNg ActiVities  

• dividend distribution and other allocations (371,000,000) (700,000,000) 

cash generated by/used in financing activities (371,000,000) (700,000,000) 

cAsh geNeRAted/used duRiNg the yeAR 13,694,498,493 257,404,726 

RecoNciliAtioN

items (*)

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 124,035,182,663 123,777,777,937

total cash generated/used during the year 13,694,498,493 257,404,726 

cash and cash equivalents: effects of changes in exchange rates -  - 

cash and cash equivalents at end of year 137,729,681,156 124,035,182,663

(*) the cash and cash equivalents reported in the cash flow statement comprise the balance of item 10 “cash

and cash equivalents” of the balance sheet, the balance on the current account held with the central state

treasury reported under item 70 “loans to customers” and the positive balance on bank accounts

reported under item 60 “loans to banks” net of current accounts with a negative balance reported under

item 10 “due to banks” of liabilities.

for the boARd of diRectoRs

chief executive officer

(ing. Massimo d’Aiuto)
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Net profit 13,320,461 

• 5% to legal reserve 666,023

• dividend of 2.0 cents per share 6,332,547

• to extraordinary reserve 6,321,891

– of which €2,056,486 not available for distribution, to possibly be allocated to a special

Reserve in the event the request for clarification with regard to iRes discussed in

“subsequent events” section is unsuccessful. 

PRoPosed AllocAtioN of Net PRofit foR the yeAR
(amounts in euros)





RePoRt of the boARd of AuditoRs



società italiana per le imprese all’estero – siMest s.p.A.

Registered office: corso Vittorio emanuele ii,  323 - Rome

Paid-up share capital €164,646,231.88

tax id and Rome company Register No. 04102891001 – R.e.A. No. 730445

A company subject to the management and coordination of cassa depositi e Prestiti s.p.A

*  *  *

RePoRt of the boARd of AuditoRs

to the shAReholdeRs’ MeetiNg

PuRsuANt to ARticle 2429 of the ciVil code

*  *  *

fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31 deceMbeR 2013

shareholders,

the board would first like to note that the bylaws of società italiana per le imprese all’estero –

siMest s.p.A., amended in compliance with legislative decree 6/2003, adopt the so-called

“traditional” system referred to in Articles 2380 et seq. of the italian civil code in the

administration and control area. Pricewaterhousecoopers has been engaged, with the

resolution of the shareholders’ Meeting of 5 July 2012, to perform the statutory audit of the

accounts until the approval of the financial statements for 2014. the company has been subject

to the management and coordination of cassa depositi e Prestiti s.p.A. since september 2013.

oversight activity

during the year ended at 31 december 2013, the board’s activity was carried out in compliance

with the rules of conduct for boards of auditors recommended by the National council of the

italian accounting profession.

the board monitored compliance with the law and the articles of incorporation and with the

principles of sound administration.

the board participated in the ordinary and extraordinary shareholders’ Meeting of 26 March

2013 and the ordinary shareholders’ Meeting of 20 June 2013, the work of which was completed

on 4 July 2013. the board also participated in meetings of the board of directors (12), which

were conducted in compliance with the provisions of the bylaws and applicable legislation. you

can reasonably be assured that the actions resolved comply with the law and the bylaws and

were not manifestly imprudent or otherwise prejudicial to the integrity of the company’s assets.

during the year, at the intervals established by Article 2381.5 of the civil code, the board of

directors provided us information on the general performance of operations and expected future

developments, as well as on transactions of particular significance, either owing to their size

and/or features, and you can reasonably be assured that the actions taken comply with the law
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and the bylaws. based on the information obtained from the directors and through meetings with

the independent auditors responsible for the statutory audit we found no atypical and/or unusual

transactions during 2013. transactions with related parties carried out with the controlling

shareholder, cassa depositi e Prestiti s.p.A, and the members of the cdP group appear to have

been carried out in the interests of the company and on market terms.

the board examined and monitored, within the scope of our responsibilities, the organisational

structure of the company and the administrative and accounting system, as well as the reliability

of the latter in correctly representing operational events, by obtaining information from

individual department heads and the independent auditors responsible for the statutory audit

and by examining corporate documentation.

the board received no complaints pursuant to Article 2408 of the civil code.

the board monitored the work of the supervisory body by virtue of the company’s adoption of

the compliance model envisaged under legislative decree 231/01.

in addition, siMest's finance operations are subject to the oversight of the corte dei conti (state

Audit court) pursuant to Article 12 of law 259/1958.

during the course of our oversight activity, no significant facts emerged that would require

special mention in this report.

the board of Auditors held 7 meetings during the year, to which the director designated by the

state Audit court was always invited, including 1 periodic meeting with the external auditors

responsible for the statutory audit, during which no significant information emerged that would

require special mention in this report.

financial statements and report on operations

the board has examined the draft financial statements for the year ended 31 december 2013,

provided to us in accordance with Article 2429 of the civil code and which report a net profit of

€13,320,461, and offer the following comments.

As this body is not responsible for performing the statutory audit of the financial statements, we

monitored the general approach to their preparation and their general compliance with the

provisions of law concerning their formation and structure. in this regard the board notes that

on 30 January 2014 the company submitted a request for a private letter ruling pursuant to

Article 11 of law 212 of 27 July 2000 to the Revenue Agency (lazio territorial office) confirming

that the corporate income tax (iRes) surtax of 8.5%, due from banks and insurance companies

for 2013, does not apply to siMest. Although the reasons set out by siMest in the request

suggest that the ruling will likely be in its favour, in the unlikely event that the request is not

granted, the amount of supplemental iRes owed would amount to €2.056 million. in anticipation

of a response from the Revenue Agency (which will be issued prior to the approval of the financial

statements by the shareholders’ Meeting), the siMest board of directors has prudently

designated said amount as not distributable in its proposed allocation of the net profit for 2013.

in examining matters regarding the process of their preparation, we agreed to the recognition of

intangible assets in the balance sheet, in accordance with Article 2426.5 of the civil code, more

information about which is provided in the notes to the financial statements.

the board has ascertained that the financial statements correspond to the information at our
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disposal, following the performance of our duties, and we have no special comments in this

regard.

the board has also verified compliance with the provisions of law governing the preparation of

the report on operations and has no comments that would require special mention here. in their

audit report, the external auditors certified that the report on operations is consistent with the

company's financial statements.

to the best of our knowledge, in preparing the financial statements the board of directors did

not have recourse to the departures admitted pursuant to Article 2423.4 of the civil code.

in view of the foregoing and taking account of the findings of the external auditors responsible

for the statutory audit, which are contained in their report accompanying the financial

statements issued on 27 May 2014, we recommend that you approve the financial statements for

the year ended 31 december 2013, noting that the proposed allocation of net profit for the year

does not conflict with the provisions of law or the bylaws.

Rome, 27 May 2014

the board of Auditors

d.ssa  ines Russo (chairman)

d.ssa Maria cristina bianchi (Auditor)

dott. giampietro brunello (Auditor)
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APPRoVAl of the fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31.12.2013 



on 19 June 2014, the ordinary shareholders' Meeting, representing 97.78% of the share capital,

approved the financial statements for the year ended 31 december 2013 and the allocation of the

net profit of €13,320,461 as follows:

• 5% or €666,023 to the legal reserve;

• €6,332,547 to the shareholders in the amount of 2.0 cents per share;

• €4,265,405 to the extraordinary reserve;

• €2,056,486 to a reserve to cover the iRes surtax (decree law 133/2013).

APPRoVAl of the fiNANciAl stAteM
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APPRoVAl of the fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31.12.2013 

APPRoVAl of the fiNANciAl stAteMeNts At 31.12.2013
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